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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the avdited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

1.

Principal activities

Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) Limited (the ‘company’) 1s a holding company to subsidianies (together the
‘group’) that provide a wide range of financial services to chents located worldwide The company 1s the holding
company for a U K regulated group, which, during the year, was regulated by the Financial Services Authonty (the
‘FSA') From | Apnl 2013, the regulatory responsibiliues of the FSA have passed to the Financial Conduct
Authornity (the ‘FCA’) and the Prudential Regulation Authonty (the ‘PRA’) The company primarnly operates 1n a US
Dollar environment as part of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc (the ‘GS Group’) Accordingly, the company’s
functional currency 15 US Dollars and these financial statements have been prepared 1n that currency

Review of business and future developments
Business environment

The group’s financial performance 1s highly dependent on the environment 1n which 11s businesses operate A
favourable business environment 1s generally charactensed by, amongst other factors, high global gross demestc
product growth, transparent, liquid and efficient capital markets, low inflation, high business and investor
confidence, stable geopolitical conditions and strong business earnings Unfavourable or uncertain economic and
market conditions can be caused by concerns about sovereign defaults, declines in economic growth, business
activity or mvestor or business confidence, limnatuions on the availability or increases m the cost of credit and
capital, mcreases 1n inflation, nterest rates, exchange rate volaulity, default rates or the price of basic commodities,
outbreaks of hosulites or other geopolitical nstability, corporate, pohitical or other scandals that reduce investor
confidence 1n capital markets, natural disasters or pandemics, or a combination of these or other factors

Most major economies’ gross domestic product (‘GDP’) growth generally weakened or only expenenced modest
growth in 2012 Markel sentiment was affected by continued broad market concerns and uncertainties, although
positive developments helped improve market conditions These developments included certain central bank actions
to ease monetary policy and address funding nsk for European financial instituhons These improvements resulted in
tighter credut spreads, higher global equity prices and lower levels of volatihty

In the U §, real GDP increased by 2 2% 1 2012, compared with an 1ncrease of 1 8% n 2011, as the U S Federal
Reserve maintained 1ts Federal Funds Rate at a target range of zero to 0 25% and extended 1ts program to lengthen
the matunty of the U § Treasury debt 1t holds In the Eurozone, real GDP declined by 0 5% n 2012, compared with
an increase of 1 5% 1n 2011, due to a sharp fall in domestic demand as business and consumer confidence declined
These negative developments reflected the impact of the sovereign debt crisis on the region’s economic growth,
particularly during the first half of the year, as concerns regarding Greece’s debt situation and the fiscal outlook 1n
Spain and Italy intensified To address these 1ssues, the European Central Bank 1njected liquidity through ts longer-
term refinancing operations (‘LTROs’) and decreased 1ts main refinancing operations rate by 25 basts points to
075% Inthe UK, real GDP increased by 0 2% n 2012, compared with an increase of 4 9% 1n 2011 as the Bank of
England maintained 1ts official bank rate at 0 5% and incrcased the size of its asset purchase programme In Japan,
real GDP increased by 1 9% in 2012, compared with a dechine of 0 6% 1n 2011, as fixed investment growth was
supported by reconstruction efforts following the earthquake and tsunami 1in 2011 The Bank of Japan maintained 1ts
target overnight call rate at a range of zero to 0 1% and increased the size of 1ts asset purchase programme

The profit and loss account for the year is set out on page 11 Net revenue for the group was US$6,278 million for
the year (year ended 31 December 2011 US35,696 milhion) The results for the group show a pre-tax profit of
US$866 mullion for the year (year ended 31 December 2011 US$3,483 mullion) The group has total assets of
US$890 hillion (31 December 2011 US3$937 billion) and the company has total assets of US$49 hillion (31
December 2011 US$27 hillion)
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Review of business and future developments (continued)

The group reports its activiuies 1n the following business segments Investment Banking, Instuitutional Client Services,
Investing & Lending, and Investment Management Details of the group’s business segments are given n note 3 to
the financial statements

Investment Banking

The decrease in net revenue 1n Investment Banking reflects a reduction 1n equity underwniting as a result of a dechine
i mdustry-wide mmtal public offerings and financial advisory duc to a reduction m completed mergers and
acquisitions during the year This was partially offset by an increase 1n debt underwnting activity

Institutional Chent Services

The 1increase in Institutional Client Services reflected higher net revenue 1in Fixed Income, Currency and
Commodities Client Execution (‘FICC’} Although broad market concerns persisted during 2012, FICC operated in a
generally improved environment characterised by tighter spreads and less challenging market-making conditions
compared with 2011 In Equiues, net revenues were lower as a result of a reduction in commussions, reflecting lower
market volumes This was partially offset by increased levels of client activity

Investing & Lending

The increase 1n Investung & Lending net revenue marnly reflects the impact of higher asset prices

Investment Management

The decrease n Investment Management net revenue mainly reflected a reduction in chent acuvity offset by an
mcrease n fees from assets under management

Administrative expenses, other interest receivable and interest payable

Admunmistrative expenses ncreased to US$4,981 million for the year (year ended 31 December 2011 US$2,358
mullion), mainly due to an increase in compensation costs including a charge of US3$793 million (year ended 31
December 2011 credit of US$1,823 million) relating to the mark to market of equity-based compensation awarded
n prior years, charged by GS Group

Interest payable increased to US$467 million for the year (year ended 31 December 2011 credit of US$93 mullion)
The prior period amount was lower as a result of a fee received on restructuring of subordinated loan facilies with
GS Group (see note 6)

Pension arrangements

The group has a pension surplus of US$213 mulhion (see note 8) as at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011
US$132 mulhon) wath a full valuatuon performed, including a review of actuanial assumptions, as at 31 August 2012
and updated 10 31 December 2012 The wncrease of US$H81 mullion was mainly driven by a gain 1n the pension plan’s
assets as a result of increasing asset prices
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Review of business and future developments (continued)

Stratepy

The GS Group 15 a bank holding company and a financial holding company regulated by the Board of Governors of
the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) It 1s also a leading global investment banking, securities and
investment management firm that provides a wide range of financial services to a substantial and diversified client
base that includes corporations, financial institutions, governments and high-net-worth individuals  As part of the GS
Group, the group seeks to be the advisor of choiwce for its clients and a leading participant in the global financial
markets The group’s strategy, consistent with that of the GS Group, 1s to grow 1ts four core businesses Investment
Banking, Institutional Client Services, Investing & Lending, and Investment Management, 1n markets throughout the
world

Principal risks and uncertainties

The group faces a vanety of nsks that are substanuial and inherent 1n 1ts businesses including market, hquidety,
credit, operational, legal, regulatory and reputational risks and uncertainties The following are some of the more
important factors that could affect the businesses

Economic and market conditions

The businesses, by their nature, do not produce predictable earnings and are matenally affected by conditions n the
global financial markets and economic conditions generally In the past, these conditions have changed suddenly
and, for a period of ume, very negauvely

Market volatility

Certain market-making businesses depend on market volatlity to provide trading and arbitrage opportunities to
clients Decreases in volatility may reduce these opportumties and adversely affect the results of these businesses In
contrast, increased volaulity, whilst it can increase trading volumes and spreads, also increases risk as measured by
Value-at-Risk (‘VaR™) and may expose the group to increased risks 1in connection with market-making activities or
necessitate the reduction in size of these acuvities in order to avoud increasing VaR Limiing the size of such
market-making positions can adversely affect the group’s profitability, even though spreads are widening and the
group may earn more on each trade In periods when volatility 1s increasing, but asset values are declining
sigmificantly, it may not be possible to sell assets at all or 1t may only be possible to do so at steep discounts In such
circumstances, the group may be forced to erther take on additional nisk or to 1ncur losses 1n order to decrease 11s
VaR In addwion, increases in volaulity increase the level of the group’s nisk weighted assets and capital
requirements, both of which 1n turn increase funding costs

Liguudity

Liquidity 1s essential to the businesses The group’s liquidity could be impaired by an inability to access secured and
{/ or unsecured debt markets, an 1nability to access funds from uts affihates, an mability to sell assets or redeem
investments or unforeseen outflows of cash or collateral This situation may arise due to circumstances that the group
may be unable to control, such as a general market disruption or an operational problem that affects third parties or
the company or even by the perception amongst market participants that the group 1s experiencing greater hquidity
risk Furthermore, the group’s ability to sell assets may be impaired if other market participants are seeking to sell
stmilar assets at the same time, as 1s likely 10 occur 1n a hguidity or other market crisis In addition, financial
institunons with which the group interacts may exercise set off nights or the nght to require addinonal collateral,
including 1n difficult market conditions, which could further impair its access to hquidity
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Review of business and future developments (continued)
Credu quality

The group 1s exposed to the risk that third parties who owe money, securtiies or other assets will not perform on their
obligations These parties may default on their obligations to the group due to bankruptcy, lack of hquidity,
operational failure or other reasons A failure of a significant market participant, or even concerns about a default by
such an mstitution, could lead to significant iquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions, which 1n turn
could adversely affect the group

The group 1s also subject to the risk that its rights against third parties may not be enforceable 1n all circumstances
In addition, deterioration in the credit quality of third parties whose securities or obligations are held by the group
could result 1n losses and / or adversely affect the group’s ability to use those secunities or obligations for hquidity
purposes A significant downgrade 1n the credn ratings of the group's counterparties could also have a negauve
impact on the group’s results Whilst, 1n many cases, the group 1s permutted to require additional collateral from
counterparties that experience financial difficulty, disputes may arise as to the amount of collateral the group 1s
entitled to recetve and the value of pledged assets The termination of contracts and the foreclosure on collateral may
subject the group to claums for the improper exercise of its nghts Default rates, downgrades and disputes with
counterparties as to the valuation of collateral increase significantly in ttimes of market stress and 1lliquidity

As part of its cleanng and prime brokerage business, the group finances client posiions, and 1t could be held
responsible for the defaults or the misconduct of us clients Although credit exposures to specific chients and
counterparties and to specific indusires, countries and regions that are believed to present credit concerns are
regularly reviewed, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee

Derwvative transactions

The group 1s party to a large number of derivauive transactions Many of these derivative mstruments are individually
negotiated and non-standardised, which can make exing, transferring or setthng posiions difficult Many
denvatives require that the group delivers to the counterparty the underlying secunty, loan or other obligation n
order to receive payment In a number of cases, the group does not hold or 18 not able to obtain the underlying
security, loan or other obligation This could cause the group to forfeit the payments due to 1t under these contracts
or result 1n settlement delays with the attendant credit and operational risk as well as increased costs to the group
Denvative transactions may also 1nvolve the risk that they are not authonised or appropriate for a counterparty, that
documentation has not been properly executed or that executed agreements may not be enforceable against the
counterparty

Denivative contracts and other transactions entered into with third parties are not always confirmed by the
counterparties or settled on a umely basis Whilst the transaction remains unconfirmed or during any delay in
settlement, the group 1s subject to heightened credit and operational risk and 1n the event of a default may find 1t
more difficult to enforce 1ts rights In addition, as new and more complex derivative products are created, covering a
wider array of underlying credit and other instruments, disputes about the terms of the underlying contracts could
anse, which could imparr the group’s ability to effectively manage 1ts risk exposures from these products and subject
it to increased costs The provisions of legislation requining central clearing of credit derivauves and other over-the-
counter (“OTC’) dertvatives, or a market shift towards standardised denivatives, could reduce the risk associated with
such transactions, but under certain circumstances could also limat the group’s abihity to develop derivatives that best
suit client and group needs, adverscly affect the group’s profitability and imcrease the crednt exposure to such a
platform
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Review of business and future developments (continued)
Operational infrastructure

The group’s businesses are highly dependent on their ability to process and monitor, on a daily basis, a very large
number of transactions, many of which are highly complex, across numerous and diverse markets m many
currencies These transactions, as well as information technology services provided to clients, ofien must adhere to
chient-specific guidelines, as well as legal and regulatory standards As the group's chient base and geographical
reach expands, developing and maintaining operational systems and infrastructure becomes increasingly challenging
Financial, accounting, data processing or other operating systems and facilities may fail to operate properly or
become disabled as a result of events that are wholly or parually beyond the group’s control, such as a spike n
transaction volume, adversely affecting the ability to process these transactions or provide these services The group
must continuously update these systems to support 1ts operations and growth and to respond to changes in
regulations and markets This updating entails significant costs and creates risks associated with implementing new
systems and integrating them with existing ones

The group also faces the nisk of operational failure, termination or capacity constraints of any of the clearing agents,
exchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries that 1t uses to faciluate securities transactions and, as
wnterconnectivity with clients grows, the group will increasingly face the nsk of operational fairlure with respect to
chents’ systems Any such failure, termination or constraint could adversely affect the group’s abihity to effect
transactions, service its clients and manage 1ts exposure to nsk

Despite the resiliency plans and facilites that are 1n place, the group’s ability o conduct business may be adversely
impacted by 4 disruption n the infrasiructure that supports these businesses and the communities in which the group
1s located This may include a distuption mvolving electrical, communication, (ransportation or other service
facilities used by the group or third parties with which the group conducts business

Technology

Technology 1s fundamental to the group’s businesses and industry The growth of electromic trading and the
introduction of new technologies are changing these businesses and presenting the group with new challenges
Securities, futures and options transactions are increasingly occurning electronically, both on the group’s own
systems and through other alternative trading systems, and it appears that the trend towards aliernative trading
systems will continue and probably accelerate Some of these allernative trading systems compete with the group's
businesses, increasing competitive pressures in these and other areas In addition, the increased use by clients of low-
cost electronic trading systems and direct electronic access to trading markets could cause a reduction in
commissions and spreads As clhients increasingly use the group’s systems 1o trade directly in the markets, the group
may ncur habihitigs as a result of their use of 1ts order routing and execution infrastructure Sigmficant resources
have been nvested into the development of electronic trading systems and the group expects to continue to do so,
but there 15 no assurance that the revenues generated by these systems will yield an adequate return on this
investment, particularly given the relatively lower commussions arising from electronic trades

Regulatory uncertainty

As a participant 1n the financial services industry, the group 1s subject to regulation 1n jurisdictions around the world
The group faces the nisk of intervention by regulatory and taxing authornities in all junsdictions 1n which 1t conducts
its businesses Amongst other things, as a result of regulators enforcing existing laws and regulations, the group
could be fined, prohibited from engaging in some of 1ts business activities, subjected to limitations or conditions on
its business activities or subjected to new or substantially higher taxes or other governmental charges in connection
with the conduct of its businesses or with respect 10 1ts employees
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Regulatory uncertainty (continued)

There 1s also the nsk that new laws or regulations or changes 1n enforcement of existing laws or regulations
applicable to the group’s businesses or those of the group’s chents, including capual, hqudity and margin
requirements, tax burdens and compensation restricuons, could be imposed on a limited subset of financial
mnsututions (either based on size, actuviues, geography or other criteria), which may adversely affect the group’s
ability to compete effectively with other msututtons that are not affected in the same way In addition, regulation
imposed on financial institutions or market parucipants generally, such as taxes on financial transactions, could
adversely impact levels of market activity more broadly and thus impact the group’s businesses

The impact of such developments could 1mpact the group’s profitability 1n the atfected junisdictions, or even make it
uneconemic to continue to conduct all or certain businesses in such junsdictions, or could result in the group
incurring significant costs associated with changing business practices, restructuring businesses, moving certain
businesses and employees to other loecauons or complying with applicable capital requirements, including hquidating
assets or raising capital (n a manner that adversely increases the group’s funding costs or otherwise adversely affects
shareholders and creditors

Risk management

The group seeks to montor and control risk exposure through a nisk and control framework encompassing a vanety
of separate but complementary financial, credit, operational, comphance and legal reporung systems, internal
controls, management review processes and other mechamisms The nsk management process seeks to balance the
group’s ability to profit from market-making positions with exposure (o potental tosses Whaist the group employs a
broad and diversified set of nsk monitoring and risk mitigation techmques, those techniques and the judgements that
accompany their application cannot anticipate every economic and financial outcome or the specifics and tming of
such outcomes Thus, the group may, in the course of 1is activities, incur losses In addition, refer to the financial risk
management section (sce note 30) below

Future outlook

The directors consider that the year end financial position of the company and the group was satisfactory No
significant change (n the company and the group’s principal business activities 1s expecled

3 Share capital

During the year, the directors and shareholders of the company reviewed the group’s capnal requirements under the
forthcoming European Unton Fourth Capital Requirement Directive (‘CRD IV’) In order to maintain the equivalent
level of Tier | capital under the new requirements the company converted its preference shares into ordinary shares
(see note 26)

4, Dividends

As a result of the conversion of preference shares (see section 3 above), no preference dividend was paid 1n the year
In the prior year, the directors of Goldman Sachs (UK )L L C the immediate parent undertaking, agreed to waive
the receipt of any preference dividend from the company 1n respect of the year The directors do not recommend the
payment of an ordinary dividend n respect of the year (year ended 31 December 2011 USS$nil)
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Post balance sheet events

On 1 March 2013, the company 1ssued 68,692,608 ordmary shares of USS$C 01 for a total consideration of US$686
million The consideration reccived was the entire ordinary share capital of a fellow GS Group subsichary
undertaking

On 9 July 2013, Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ') re-registered, under the Companies Act 2006, from an
unlimited company 1o a company hmited by shares Consequently, the name of the company changed to Goldman
Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) Lim:ted

On 15 July 2013, the company 1ssued 135,528,803 ordinary shares of US$0 01 for a total consideration of US$1,368
million The consideration received was the entire ordinary share capital of a fellow GS Group subsidiary
vndertaking

Exchange rate

The sterling / US Dollar exchange rate at the balance sheet date was £/ US$ 1 6244 (31 December 2011 £/ USS
1 5511) The average rate for the year was £ / US$ | 5925 (year ended 31 December 2011 £/US$ | 6103)

Employment of disabled persons

Apphicatuons for employment by disabled persons are fully and fairly considered having regard to the aptitudes and
abilities of cach apphcant Efforts are made to enable any employees who become disabled during employment (o
continue therr careers within the GS Group Training, carcer development and promotion of disabled persons are, 10
the extent possible, identical to that of other employees who are not disabled

Employee involvement

It 15 group policy that there should be effective communication with all employees who, subject to practical and
commercial considerations, should be consulted on and involved in decisions that affect their current jobs or future
prospects Employees share 1n performance-based incentive schemes

Directors

The directors of the company who served throughout the year and to the date of this report, except where noted,
were

Name Appointed Resigned

M A Allen 26 June 2013

D W McDonogh

A S Nak 27 January 2012
R J Taylor 26 June 2013

No director had, at the year end, any 1nterest requiring note herein
Financial risk management

The group’s nisk management objectives and policies, as well as 1ts exposures 10 market nisk, credit nisk and hquiduy
nisk are described 1n note 30 to the financial statements
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14.

Disclosure of information to auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the company at the date when this report was approved

. so far as cach of the directors 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audst information of which the company’s auditors
are unaware, and

. each of the directors has taken all the steps that he / she ought to have taken as a director to make humself /
herself aware of any relevant audit snformauon and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that
information

Independent auditors

Prior to 1 October 2007, the company passed an elective resolution under section 386 of the Companies Act 1985 to
dispense with the annual reappointment of auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will, accordingly, continue n
office as auditors of the company pursuant to section 487(2) of the Compantes Act 2006 and paragraph 44 of
Schedule 3 to the Compames Act 2006 (Commencement No 3 Consequential Amendment, Transitional Provisions
and Savings) Order 2007

Charitable contributions

During the year, an amount of US$32,799,715 (year ended 31 December 2011 US$19,435,364) was donated to
chanty Of this amount, US$28,340,000 (year ended 31 December 2011 US$16,740,000) was donated to Goldman
Sachs Gives (UK), a chanty regisiered 1n England and Wales, for general chantable purposes

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the financial statements 1n accordance with
applicable law and regulations Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial penod
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company as at the end of the financial
period and of the profit or loss of the group for that period In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
. state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any matenal departures

disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

. prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropniate to presume that the company will
conunue 1n business

The directors are respensible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any tume the financial position of the group and the company, and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply
with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and the company
and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other wrregularities
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The financial statements were authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 27 September 2013

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

P

R I TAYLOR

Director

2 F SEPTEMBER 2013




Independent Auditors’ report to the members of
GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

We have audited the group and parent company financial statements of Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) Limated for the
vear ended 31 December 2012 which comprise the group profit and loss account, the group and company balance sheets, the
group statement of total recognised gains and losses and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been
applied 1n their preparation s apphcable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Pracuce)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully 1n the statement of directors’ responsibilities (set out on page 8) the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our respensibility 1s to audit
and express an opimion on the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Pracuces Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opimons, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body 1n accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, m giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or 1nto whose hands 1t may come save
where expressly agreed by our prior consent 1n writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaiming evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and parent company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of sigmficant accounting estimates made by the directors, and
the overall presentation of the financial statements In addimion, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the
directors’ reporl to 1dentify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent company’s affairs as a1 31 December 2012 and the
group’s profit for the year then ended.

*  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
= have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given 1n the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
15 consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you 1f, in
our opinion

*  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or relurns adequate for our audit have not
been recerved from branches not visited by us, or

*  the parent company financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
«  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

D &pleudse- 7013
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

for the year ended 31 December 2012

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Note US$000 US$000
Net revenue 2,3 6,278,008 5,696,213
Admimstrative expenses (4,980,786) (2,358,107)
OPERATING PROFIT 4 1,297,222 3,338,106
Loss on sale of substdiary undertakings (4,039) -
Gain on disposal of associate undertaking 14(b) - 19,643
Other interest receivable and stmilar income 5 18,294 4,001
Interest payable and simular charges 2,6 (466,918) 93,3183
Net finance income 8 21,817 28,180
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 866,376 3483313
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 10 (96,134) (683,135)
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
TAXATION AND FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 27,28 770,222 2,800,178

Net revenue and operating profit of the group are derived from continuing operations in the current and prior years

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

for the year ended 31 December 2012

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Note US$’000 US$’000
Profit tor the financial year 770,222 2,800,178
Actuanal gain / (loss) relating to the pension scheme 8 60,356 (51,852)
UK deferred tax attributable to the actuanal gain / (loss) 19 {13,882) 12,963
Currency translauon differences 12,506 (1,000)
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SINCE
LAST FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 829,202 2,760,289

The notes on pages 13 to 64 form an integral part of these {inancial statements
Independent Auditors’ report — page 10




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET

as at 31 December 2012

The Group The Company
31 December 2012 31 December 2011 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Note US$’000 US$'000 US$°000 US$'000
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets 12 6.271 7738 - -
Tangible fixed assets 13 16.616 8919 - -
Shares 1n subsidhary undertakings 14 - - 7,540,328 6,894,190
Other investments other than loans 14(c) 1 366 1,385 - -
24,253 18,042 7.540,328 6,894 190
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial instruments owned 16 578,257,050 610,947 921 1,509 -
Financial instruments owned, pledged as
collateral 16 28,028,703 21 508.436 - -
Collateralised agreements 17 200,741,716 226 071,517 - -
Debtors 18 69,478,793 63,175,935 41,606 982 19.887.116
Cash at bank and 1n hand 20 13,833.650 15,571,924 I 305 19 681
890,339.912 937,275 733 41,609,796 19,906,797
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE
WITHIN ONE YEAR
Financial instruments sold, but not yet
purchased 16 (532,926,865) (568,354,650) {1,509) -
Collateralised financing 21 (156.,577.52%) (157 780 707) - .
Other creditors 22 (163.154.044) (174 467.099) (35,781 269) (13.774.138)
(852,658 434) (900,602 456) (35,782,778) (13,774,138)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 37.681.478 36,673,277 5.827018 6,132,659
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 37,705 731 36,691,319 13,367,346 13,026,849
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE
AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 23 (15,533,095 {15,385,879) (8.578.000) (8,578 000)
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 25 (28 305) (5,991) . -
NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION
SURPLUS 22,144,331 21,299,449 4,789,346 4,448 849
Pension surplus 8 212470 132,154 - -
NET ASSETS INCLUDING PENSION
SURPLUS 22,356,801 21,431,603 4,789 346 4 448,849
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share caputal 26 22,565 22,473 22 565 22473
Capntal contribution 27 78410 73,089 78 410 73 089
Share premium account 27 1,637,615 1,547,032 1637615 1 547,032
Merger reserve 27 1,021,395 1,021,395 1,021,395 1,021,395
Capital redemption reserve 27 305,012 305,012 - -
Profit and loss account 27 19,291 804 18,462 602 2,029,361 1,784,860
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS 28 22 356 801 21,431,603 4,789,346 4 448 849

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 September 2013 and signed on us behalf by

R.J TLOR

Director

The notes on pages 13 to 64 form an integral part of these financial statements
Independent Auditors’ report — page 10
Company number 3769030




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a.

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention
{modified as explained 1n note 1(n) and note 1{0)), and in accordance with the Compames Act 2006 and
applicable accounung standards The principal accounting policies are set out below and have been applied
consistently throughout the year

Consohdation

The consolidated financial statements include the company and all of 1ts subsidianies  Acquisition accounting 1s
used to consolidate subsidiaries acquired during the year In accounting for subsidiaries the group fully
consolidates therr assets, habilities and resulis for the year All intercompany balances and transactions are
ehmuinated from the consolidated accounts The accounung reference date of the company and 1ts subsidiary
undertakings 1s 31 December, with the exception of those subsidiaries which, because of certain considerations,
have different accounting reference dates The financial statements of these subsidiaries have been consohdated
on the basis of interim financial statements for the year 1o 31 December

Revenue recogmtion

Net revenue has been disclosed instead of turnover as this more meamngfully reflects the nature and results of
the group’s activities Net revenue, after charging related expenses, includes the net profit arising from
transactions tn securities. foreign exchange, and other financial mstruments, and fees and commussions earncd

Related expenses include trading interest and dividends payable less trading interest and dividends receivable

. Investment Banking
Financial advisory / underwriting revenues

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwnting revenues are recognised n profit and loss
when the relevant parties are contractually bound and as contract activity progresses, unless the right
to consideranon does not anse unul occurrence of a cnitical event, 1in which case revenue 15 not
recogmsed unul that event has occurred

Expenses assoctated with such transactions are deferred until the related revenue 1s recognised or the
engagement 15 otherwise concluded Expenses asscciated with financial advisory (ransactions are
recogmsed as non-compensation expenses, net of client reimbursements Underwriting revenues are
presented net of related expenses

. Institutional Chent Services and Investing & Lending
Financial assets and habilities held for trading

Financial assets and habilities held for trading are recognised at fair value with realised and unrealised
gains and losses as well as associated interest and dividend income and expenses included in net
revenue Financial assets are marked to bid prices and financial habiliies are marked to offer prices
Fair value measurements do not include transaction costs

Comnmussions

Commussion revenues from executing and clearing client transactions on stock, opuions and futures
markets are recogmsed on the day the trade 1s executed and are included 1n net revenues

13




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

C.

€.

Revenue recognition (continued)
. Investment Management
Management fees

Management fees are recogmsed on an accruals basis They are generally calculated as a percentage of
a fund’s average net asset value and are recogmsed over the period that the related service 1s provided

Incentive fees

Incentive fees are calculaled as a percentage of a fund’s return or a percentage of a fund's excess
return above a specified benchmark or other performance target Incentive fees are only recogmsed
once they can be rehiably measured at the end of the performance year

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when all the risks and rewards ol ownershuip are transferred substantially
to the lessee All other leases are classificd as operaung leases

The group acls as both the lessor and the lessee under finance lease agreements Assets leased from
counterparties are capitalised at the inception of the tease at the present value of the mnimum lease payments
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the asset’s useful life The capital elements of future
obligations under finance leases are included within other creditors and represent outstanding amounts due
under the agreements less finance charges allocated to future penods

Assets leased to counterparties are derecogmised al the inception of the lease Finance lease interest expense 1s
recognised 1n interest payable and similar charges over the period of the lease Lease rentals due under finance
leases are included within debtors and represent outstanding amounts due under the agreements less finance
income allocated to future periods Finance lease interest income 1s recognised 1n other interest recervable and
similar income over the period of the lease so as to give a constant rate of return on the net investment in the
leases

The group has entered into operating lease agreements where the group acts as the lessee Leased assets are not
recogmsed on the balance sheet Costs 1n respect of operating leases, including any incentives granted by the
lessor, are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included within administrative expenses 1n
the profit and loss account

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an undiscounted basis and accrued
as an expense over the year in which the employee renders the service to the group Provision 1s made for
discretionary year end compensation whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a result of
group policy and past practice, a constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date

Share-based payments

The GS Group issues awards 1n the form of resinicted stock units (‘RSUs’) and stock options to the group’s
employees for services rendered to the group The cost of equity-based transacttons with employees 1s
measured based on grant-date faiwr value of the award Share based awards that do not require future service
(1 e, vesuing awards, including awards granted to retired eligible employees) are expensed immediately Share-
based employee awards that require future service are amortised over the relevant service penod Expected
forfeitures are included 1n determining share-based employee compensation expense

14




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

f.

Share-based payments (continued)

The GS Group settles equity awards through the delivery of its ordinary shares The GS Group pays cash
dividend equivalents on outstanding RSUs The group has also entered inlo a chargeback agreement with the
GS Group under which 1115 commutted to pay the market value at grant date, as well as subsequent movements
1n fair value of those awards, to the group at the time of delivery to its employees

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated 1n foreign currencies are translated nto US Dollars at rates of exchange ruling on
the date the transaction occurred Monetary assets and liabihues denomimated in foreign currencies are
translated into US Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised 1n operating profit

The results of subsidiaries with non-US Dollar functional currencies are translated at the average rates of
exchange during the year and thewr balance sheets al the rates ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange
differences ansing from the retranslation of the opening net assets and results are reported in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses

Pension cost

The group 1s a sponsor of a number of defined contribution pension schemes and a hybnid pension plan f{or the
benefit of certain employees The defined benefit and defined contribution sections of the hybrid plan and the
defined contribution pension schemes are accounted for as follows

. for the defined benefit section, the amounts charged to operatng profit are the current service costs,
any past service cosis and any gains or losses on settlements and curtallments They are included as
part of staff costs The interest cost and expected return on assets are shown as a net amount within
net finance income Actuanal gains and losses are recogmised immediately 1n the statement of total
recognised gains and losses The defined benefit secuion 1s funded, with the assets of the scheme held
separately from those of the group, 1n separate trustee-admimstered funds Pension scheme assets are
measured at fair value and habiliies are measured on an actuanal basis using the projected umt
method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate
bond of equivalent currency and term lo the scheme habilities  Full actuanal valuations are obtained at
least tnennially and updated at each balance sheet date Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over
scheme Liabiliies 1s recogmsed on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or hability (deficit)

. for the defined contnbution section and the defined contnibution pension schemes, the amount charged
to operating profit in respect of pension costs 1s the contributions payable for the year Dnfferences
between contributions payable tor the year and contnibutions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet

Goodwill

Where the fair value of the separable net assets 1s less than the fair value of the consideration for an acquired
undertaking the difference 15 treated as posiuve goodwill Positive goodwall 1s capitalised and amorused 1n the
profit and loss account on a straight-line basis Provision 1s made for any impairment Where the fair value of
the separable net assets exceeds the fair value of the consideration for an acquired undertaking, the difference
1s treated as negative goodwill and 1s tmnally recognised on the balance sheet Negative goodwill, up to the
amount of the fair value of the non-monetary assets acquired 1s recogmised 1n the profit and loss account 1n the
year in which the non-monetary assets are recovered Any negative goodwitl in excess of the fair value of the
non-monetary assets acquired 1s recogmsed 1n the profit and loss account 1n the year the benefit 1s expected to
arise




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 201

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

St
*

m.

n.

Dividends

Final equity dividends (including dividends payable on preference shares classified as equity) are recognised in
the year they are approved by the shareholders Interim equity dividends are recogmsed n the year that they are
paid Dividends are debited directly to equity

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment
Depreciation 1s included 1n admimstrauive expenses and 15 provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives at the following annual rates A

Years
Fixtures, fitungs and equipment 3-7

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic hife of the asset or the
remaining tife of the lease when the asset 1s brought into use Deprecianon policies are reviewed on an annual
basis

Fixed asset investments

Fixed asset investmenis comprise shares in subsidiary undertakings, shares in associate investments and other
wvestments other than loans These are stated at cost or amortised cost, as applcable, less provision for any
umpairment, except for equity investments 1o the group accounts, which are stated at fair value, and shares in
associate investments, which are accounted for under the equity method by the group

Offsetting financial assets and habilities
Financial assets and habihties are offset and the net amount presented 1o the balance sheet where there 15
. currently a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and

. ntent to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously

1
Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and labilities are presented on a gross basis 1n the balance
sheet

Financial instruments held for trading

Financial assets and habilities held for trading are recorded at fair value The fair value of a financial
mstrument 1s the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid 10 transfer a habiity 1n an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, 1 e the exu price Financial assets are marked
to bid prices and financial habilities are marked to offer prices Fair value measurements do not include
transaction costs  Fair value gains or losses are included 1n net revenue

The best evidence of fair value 1s a quoted price 1n an active market If fisted prices or quotations are not
available, fair value 1s determined by reference to prices for similar instruments, quoted prices or recent
transactions 1n less active markets, or internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, market based or
independently sourced parameters, including but not limuted to interest rates, volatilines, equuty or debt prices,
foreign exchange raies, commodities prices, credit curves and funding rates The fair value of certain financial
assets and financial habilities may require appropriate valuation adjustments for counterparty and the group’s
credit quality, funding risk, transfer restrictions, illiquidity and bid / offer spreads
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments held for trading (continued)

Cash nstruments include securities, which are typically reachly transierable and exhibit reasonable levels of
price transparency, and other cash instruments, such as loans Cash nstruments that trade 1n active markets are
valued using quoted prices for tdentical unrestricted instruments Other cash instruments (such as most
government agency obligations, most corporate debt securities, restricted or less hiquid publicly listed equities,
most state and municipal obligations and certain money market mstruments and lending commitments) are
valued by verifying to quoted prices, recent trading activity for identical or similar instrumenis, broker or
dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency Consideration 1s
given to the nature of the quotations {e g indicative or firm) and the relauonship of recent market activity to
the prices provided from alternative pricing sources Valuation adjustments are typically made (1) if the cash
instrument s subject to regulatory or contractual transfer restrictions and / or (n) for other premiums and
discounts that a market participant would require to artive at fair value Valuaton adjustments are generally
based on market evidence

Certain cash instruments have one or more sigmficant valuation inpuls that are not observable Absent evidence
to the contrary, these instruments are initially valued at transaction price, which 1s considered to be the best
initial estimate of fair value When a pricing model 1s used, the model 1s adjusted so that the model value of the
cash instrument at inception equals the transaction price Subsequently, the group uses other methodologies to
determmne fawr value, which vary based on the type of instrument Valuation inputs and assumpuions are
changed when corroborated by substantive observable evidence, including values realised on sales

Denvatives may be privately negotiated contracts, which are usually referred to as over-the-counter (*OTC’)
derivauves, or they may be listed and traded on an exchange (‘exchange-wraded’) Exchange-traded derivatives
that are actively traded are valued at their quoted market price Exchange-raded derivauves that are not
actively traded are valued using models that calibrate to market-clearing levels of OTC denivatives

OTC denvatives are generally valued using market transactions and other market evidence, including market-
based inputs to models, cahbration 1o market-clearing transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other
alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency Consideration 1s given to the nature of
the quotations (e g tndicative or firm) and the relatnonship of recent market activity to the prices provided from
alternative pricing sources

Where models are vsed, the selection of a particular model to value an OTC denvative depends on the
contractual terms of, and specific nisks inherent 1n, the nstrument, as well as the availlability of pricing
information 1n the market Valuation models require a variety of inputs, including contractual terms, market
prices, yield curves, credit curves, measures of volatihity, prepayment rates, loss severity rates and correlations
of such inputs For OTC dernivauves that trade 1n hquid markets, model selection does not involve significant
management judgement because outputs of models can be calibrated to market-clearing levels

Certain OTC denivavves are valued using models that utilise inputs that can be observed 1n the market, as well
as unobservable inputs Unobservable inputs include certain correlations as well as credit spreads, equity
volaulity 1nputs, commodity prices and commodity volatilities that are long-dated or denved from trading
activity 1 inacuve or less hquid markets ‘Day 1 P&L’ 1s the term used to describe the difference between the
tinal transaction price and the fair value calculated by internal models Day | P&L 1s released 1o profit and
loss at the earhier of the fair value becoming observable using market parameters, or through reference to
simtlar quoted products, and derecogmuon of the financial instrument Subsequent to the imtal valuation of
such derivauves, the group updates the observable 1nputs to reflect observable market changes Unobservable
inputs are changed when correborated by ewvidence such as siular market transactions, third party pricing
services and / or broker or dealer quotations or other empirical market data In circumstances where the group
cannot venfy the model value by reference 1o markel transactions, 1t 1s possible that a different valuation model
could produce a matenally different estimate of fair value

Financial instruments owned are classified as held for trading The directors are of the opunion that 1t would not
be appropriate to classify them as current asset investments or to provide an analysis of such securities between
those histed and unhsted




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

0.

r.

Collateralised agreements and financing

Collateralised agreements (securities purchased under agreements 10 resell and deposits placed as collateral for
stock borrowed) and collateralised financing (securities sold under agreements to repurchase and deposits
received as collateral for stock loans) are carried at fair value under the fair value option as they are managed
and performance evaluated on a far value basis The collateral can be 1n the form of cash or secuniies Cash
collateral 1s recogmsed / derecogmsed when received / paid Collateral posted by the group in the form of
securities 1s not derecogmsed from the balance sheel, whulst collateral received 1n the form of securities 1s not
recogmsed on the balance sheet If collateral received 15 subsequently sold, the obligation to return the
collateral and the cash received are recognised on balance sheet

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recogmsed i respect of all uming differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where transactions or ¢vents have occurred at that date that will result 1n an obhigation o
pay more tax in the future or a night to pay less tax 1n the future Deferred tax assets are recogmised only to the
extent that the directors consider that ot 15 more likely than not that there will be sunable taxable profits from
which the future reversal of the underlying tming differences can be deducted Deferred tax 1s measured on an
undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply n the years in which tming differences reverse,
hased on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax 15
recogmsed n the profit and loss account or directly 1n the statement of total recogmsed gains and losses
according to where the associated gain or loss, 1o which the deferred tax 1s attributable, 15 recogmsed

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised 1n the financial statements when 1t 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle a present (legal or constructive) obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events,
and for which a rehable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation Legal obligations that may anse
as a result of proposed new laws are recogmsed as obligations only when the legislation 1s virtually certain to
be enacted as drafted The expense relaung to any provision 1s presented tn the profit and loss account net of
any reimbursement

Contingent habilities are

. possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future evenis outside the control of the
group, or

. present obligations that have ansen from past events but which are not recognised because either an
outflow of economic benefits 1s not probable or the amount of the obligations cannot be relably
measured

Contingent habilities are not recognised 1n the financial statements However, the disclosure 1s made unless the
probabiluty of settlement 1s remote

Non-trading financial assets and hahlities

Non-trading financial assets and hiabiliies primarly comprise long-term subordinated debt, loan notes, other
debtors, other creditors, amounts due from GS Group undertakings and amounts due to GS Group
undertakings They are mually recogmised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, with
finance income and expense recogmsed on an accruals basis All finance income and expense 1s recognised 1n
the profit and loss account
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
s  Classification of financial instruments issued

Financial habihines and equity instruments 1ssued are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangemenis An equity nstrument 1S any contract that evidences a residual interest 1n the assets of the
company after deducung all habilines Instruments are cvaluated to determine whether they contain both
liability and equity components The ininal carrying amount of a compound financial instrument 1s allocated
first to the hability component, measured at fair value, and the equity component 1s assigned the residual
amount

t. Reporting and disclosure exemptions
i FRS1 (Revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow Statements’

The company 15 a greater than 90% subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, whose consolidated
accounts include the company and are publicly available and 1s, therefore, exempt from preparing a cash flow
statement as required by FRS1 (Revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow Statements’

ii. FRSS ‘Related Party Disclosures’

The company 15 a wholly-owned subsichary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, whose consolidated accounts
include the company and are publicly available As a result, under the terms of paragraph 3(c) of FRSS8
‘Related Party Disclosures’, the company and 1ts subsidiaries where wholly-owned are exempt trom disclosing
transactions with other compames also wholly owned within the GS Group There were no other related party
transactions requiring disclosure

PRESENTATIONAL CHANGES

In the current year the group has revised its policy for distinguishing trading interest income and expense, which 1s
mncluded 1n net revenue, from other interest income and expense, to align with subsidiary undertakings The
comparative figures have been amended to conform to the current year's classification methodology The impact was
to decrease both net revenue and interest expense in the current year by US$524 million (31 December 2011
US$166 mulhon)

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The group’s net revenue 1s categonsed into the following principal segments

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Investment Banking 838,016 925,807
Insututional Client Services 4,347,711 4,122,827
Investing & Lending 509,595 29,949
Investment Management 582,686 617,630
6,278,008 5,696,213
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Investment Banking

Investment Banking activities consist of

. Financial Advisory — wncludes advisory assignments with respect o mergers and acquisitions, divestilures,

corporate defence activities, nsk management, restructuring and spin offs and denvative transactions directly
related to clhient advisory assignments, and

. Underwriting — includes public offerings and private placements of a wide range of securities, loans and other

financial instruments, and derivative transactions directly related to chient underwriting activaties
Institutional Client Services

Institutional Client Services 1s comprises

. Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities Client Execution — includes chient execution activities related to

making markets 1n interest rate products, credit products, mortgages, currencies and commodities, and

. Equities Client Execution — includes client execution activities related to making markets mn equity products, as

well as commussions and fecs from exccuting and clearing institutional client transactions on major stock,
options and futures exchanges worldwide Equities also includes the secunties services business, which
provides financing, secunties lending prime brokerage services to institutional clients, including hedge funds,
mutual funds, pension funds and foundations, and generates revenues prnimarily n the form of interest rate
spreads or fees

Investing & Lending

Investing & Lending includes investing activities, directly and indirectly through funds that the GS Group manages,
in debt securities, loans, public and private equity secunties and other investments

Investment Management

Investment Management provides investment management services and offers investment products (primarily
through separately managed accounts and commungled vehicles, such as mutual funds and private investment funds)
across all major assel classes to a diverse set of institutional and individual chents Investment management also
ofters investment adwvisory services, including portfelio management and financial counselling, and brokerage and
other transaction services 1o high-net-worth individuals and familes

Geographical Analysis

Due to the mghly integrated nature of international financial markets, the directors consider that the group operates
i a single global market As a result, no disclosure of segmental information relatng to the geographical ongin of
results has been provided
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 201

OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging /
(crediting):

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (see note 13)

Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of
the company’s annual accounts

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and 1ts
associates for other services

Audit of the company’s subsidiaries, pursuani to
legislauon

Other services pursuant to legislation provided by
auditors

Management fees charged by GS Group undertakings
Management fees charged to GS Group undertakings
Amortisatuon of goodwill (see note 12)

Operating lease rentals - land and buildings
Trading interest payable - GS Group undertakings
- other

Trading interest recervable - GS Group undertakings
- other

OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

Interest on overmght deposits

Interest on loans to GS Group undertakings
Interest on loans to banks and customers
Other interest recervable

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Interest on loans from GS Group undertakings

Interest on deposits from banks and customers
Other interest payable

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$'000 US$’000
3,655 3,312
159 161
6,008 6,441
13 990
468,099 397,157
(89,940) (75457)
(1,467) 2,358
94,311 98,325
1,148,790 1,020,845
2,256,189 2 894,903
(161,518) (191,895)
(3,063,022) (3,804,394)
The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$'000 US$’000
105 253
356 672
2,037 2,342
15,796 734
18,294 4,001
The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$°000 US$°000
455,023 (94,275)
11,667 535
228 357
466,918 (93,383)

During the prior year, the group agreed to restructure subordinated loan faciliies of US$5,078 mllion, with the
ultimate parent undertaking Consequently, wn the prior year, the group received a fee of US$289 mullion, which 1s

included 1n 1nterest on loans from GS Group undertakings
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DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$’000 US$’000
Aggregate emoluments 154 123
Company pension contrtbutions to money purchase schemes 2 2
156 125

In accordance with the Compames Act 2006, directors’ emoluments above represemt the proportion of total
emoluments pard or payable in respect of qualifying services only In accordance with Schedule 5 Statutory
Instrument 2008 / 410, this only includes the value of cash and benefits 1n kind Dtrectors also receive emoluments
for non-qualifying services which are not required to be disclosed

The chsclosure of direclors’ emoluments reflects a modified approach to the allocation of directors’ ume n
circumstances where directors provide services (o multiple group companies Directors’ emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2011 have been amended, accordingly, 10 be consistent with the current year's presentation

Three persons, who were directors for some or all of the year, are members of a defined contribution pension scheme
and three persons are members of a defined benefit pension scheme (including the defined benefit section of the
hybnid plan) All directors have been granted shares in respect of a long term incentive scheme One director
exercised options

STAFF COSTS

The average number of employees of the group, including directors, 1s analysed below

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Number Number

Investment Banking 664 672
Insutunional Client Services 1,486 1,625
Investing & Lending 96 105
Investment Management 493 486
Support functions 2,604 2.853
5343 5,741
Consultants and temporary staff 350 534
5,693 6,275

The group has the use of a number of individuals who are employed by affiliated entities and seconded to the group
These seconded individuals are included in the disclosure of headcount and related staff costs Consultanis and
temporary staff costs are included in total direct costs of employment, below

The above disclosure has been revised to include employees, consultants and temporary staff of the group’s
branches The impact of this change 1s to increase average total headcount for the year ended 31 December 2012 by
151 (31 December 2011 164) and total headcount as at 31 December 2012 by 152 (December 2011 162)

The total number of employees as at 31 December 2012 was 5,594 (31 December 2011 5,847}
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

STAFF COSTS (continued)

The employment costs incurred by the group, including those relating to directors, were

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$°000 US$’000
Aggregate gross wages and salaries 3,369 138 904,494
Employer’s Nauonal Insurance Contributions 365,674 146,561
Pension costs, employer’s contributions to the
Defined contnbution scheme (including
defined contributions to the hybrid scheme} 55,767 59,276
Defined benefit scheme 45,227 42,710
Total direct costs of employment 3,835,806 1,153,041

Staff costs include a charge of US$793 mullion (year ended 31 December 2011 a credit of US$1,823 mullion)
relating to the mark-to-market ot equity-based compensation

Pension arrangements

The group sponsors an open pension plan with a hybnd structure (‘the Plan’), having both defined benefit and
defined contnibunion sections From 1 March 2008, the Plan was closed to employees whose employment
commenced after this date and was replaced by a deflined contnbution plan

A full actvanal valuation of the defined benefit section of the Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary
as at 31 August 2012 using the projected unut funding method and updated to 31 December 2012

The mayor financial assumptions used by the actuary underlying the funding of the Plan which had the most
significant effect on the pension cost are set out below

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
% per annum % per annum
Discount rate 490 490
Rate of increase 1n salaries 400 4 00
Rate of increase in pensions
(post-30 November 1996 accruat) 330 340
Rate of increase tn pensions i deferment
(post-30 November 1996 accrual) 240 220
Rate of price inflation 330 340

The mortality assumptions were set based on the 'S1 series all pensioner hght’ base table projected to 2009 with an
allowance known as ‘medium cohort’ improvements The future improvement from 2009 1s 1n line with medium
cohort projections subject to a minumum level of 1% per anmum

Based on the actuanal review of the Plan, the directors have revised the following assumptions as they believe they
better reflect the future development of Plan habihties

* 10 line with market practice, the discount rate setting methodology was changed duning the year, which resulted
1 a discount rate of 045% per annum higher than the rate that would have been used had 1t been set 1n a
consistent manner with that used as at 31 December 2011 The impact of this methodology change 15 to reduce
Plan Liabilities by US$162 4 million
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

8. STAFF COSTS (continued)

+  the difference between the Retail Price Index (‘RPI') and Consumer Prices Index (‘CPI') has reduced from
1 2% per annum to 0 9% per annum since 31 December 2011 This 15 partially offset by a decrease in the RPI
assumpuon of 0 1% per annum during the year This change n assumption increased Plan habilities by
US$14 3 million

The assets in the Plan attributable to the group and the expected rates of return were:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Expected Market Expected Market
rate of return value rate of return value
% per annum US$m % per annum US$m
Equities 75 771 6 82 6384
Bonds 35 2877 34 142 4
Cash and reinvested cash 24 20713 31 278 8
Total market value of assets 1,266.6 1,059.6

Development of the balance sheet:
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 29 November

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Market value of Plan assets 1,266 6 1,059 6 1,053 6 744 9 524 1
Actuanal value of Plan
habilities 1,054 1 927 4 889 6 902 1 3950
Surplus / (deficit) in the Plan
and pension asset / (hability)
recogmsed 1n the balance
sheet before deferred taxation 2125 1322 164 0 (157 2) 129.1
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STAFF COSTS (continued)

The defined benefit cost was formed of the following components:

Analysis of amounts charged to operating profit:
Currenl service cost

Total charged to operating profit

Analysis of the amount credited to net finance income:
Interest on Plan habilities
Expected return on assets 1n the Plan

Total credited to net finance income

Total charged to profit and loss before tax

Analysis of amounts recogmsed in the statement of total
recogmised gains and losses:

{Gain) / loss on assets

Experience gain on hiabilities

Loss / (gain) in assumptions
(financial and demographic)

Total (gain) / loss recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses before tax

History of experience gains and losses are as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$m US$m
452 523
45.2 52.3
465 494
(68 3) (77 6)
(21.8) (28.2)
234 24.1
(572) 101 1
(17 5) (28 5)
143 207
(60.4) 51.9

31 December 31 December

2012

2011

31 December 31 December 29 November

2010

2009

2008

{Gam) / loss on Plan
assets:

Amount (US$m) (57 2)
% of Plan asscts at end of

the year 45%
Experience gain on Plan

habilities:

Amount (US$m) (17 5)
% of Plan habilities at end

ol the year 1 7%
Total actuarial (gain) /

loss recogmised 1n

statement of total

recognised gains and

losses:

Amount (US$m) (60 4)

% of Plan habilities at end
of the year 57%

1011

95%

(28 5)

3 1%

519

56%

(14 0)

13%

(48 6)

55%

(88 2)

99%

(107 0)

14 4%

(17 2)

1 9%

3005

333%

1158

22 1%

(159)

4 0%

(153 9)

39 0%

25




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

STAFF COSTS (continued)

Analysis of the movement in Plan assets during the year:

Plan assets at the start of the year

Expected return on Plan assets

Gain / (loss) on assets

Contributions pawd - employer

Benefits paid

Foreign exchange gains / (losses) on transtation of Plan assets

Plan assets at the end of the year

Analysis of the movement 1n Plan habilities during the year:

Plan habilities at the start of the year
Current service cost

Interest on Plan habilities

Loss / (gain) on change 1n assumptions
Experience gain

Benefits paid

Foreign exchange losses / (gains) on translation of Plan
habihtes

Plan liabilities at the end of the year

Analysis of the movement in surplus in the Plan during the year:

Surplus 1n the Plan at the start of the year
Coninbutions pard — employer

Current service cosl

Net finance income

Actuanal gain / (loss)

Foreign exchange gain on translation of surplus

Surplus in the Plan at the end of the year

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$m US$m

1,059 6 1,053 6

683 776
572 (101 1)

357 438
(73) (85)
531 (58)

1,266.6 1,059.6
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$m US$m

9274 8896

452 523

46 5 49 4
143 207
(175) (28 5)
a3 (85)
455 (62)

1,054.1 9274
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$m US$Hm

1322 1640

357 438
(45 2) (523)

218 282
60 4 (519)

76 04

2125 1322
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8. STAFF COSTS (continued)

Additional disclosures:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$m US$m
Expected future benefit payments for the year to
31 December 2013 / 31 December 2012 93 82
Expected contributions for the year to
31 December 2013 / 31 December 2012 — employer 336 360
Actual return on Plan assets during the year ended 31
December 2012 / 31 December 2011
Expected return on Plan assets 68 3 776
Asset gain / (loss) during the year 572 (101 1)
Actual return on Plan assets 125.5 {23.5)

Cumulative amounts recogmsed in the statement of total recognised gamns and losses since the adoption of
FRS17 Retirement Benefits:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

US$m US$m
Actuanal loss relating to the pension scheme (309 (913)
UK deferred tax attrbutable to the actuanal
loss 1t 5 254
Net cumulative amount recognised in the statement of
total recogmsed gains and losses (19.4) (659)

In addition to the Plan described above, the group also operates a number of defined contribution plans The total
contribution cost of these plans for the year was US$35 8 mullion (year ended 31 December 2011 US3$593
million) There 15 no amount 1n respect of this cost that remauwns payable at the balance sheet date (2011 US$mil)

9 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Stock incentive plan

The group’s ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, sponsors a stock incentive plan, The
Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (‘the SIP’), which provides for, amongst others, grants
of incentive stock options and restricted stock unus (‘RSUs’)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Restricted stock umts (‘RSUs’)

The ultimate parent company 1ssued RSUs to the group’s employees under the SIP, pnimanly in connection with year
end compensation RSUs are valued based on the closing price of the underlying shares at the date of grant after
taking 1nto account a hquidity discount for any applicable post-vesting transfer restrnictions Year-end RSUs
generally vest and deliver as outhned 1n the applicable RSU agreements Employee RSU agreements generally
provide that vesting 1s acceleraled 1n certain circumstances, such as upon retirement, death and extended absence
Delivery of the underlying shares of common stock 1s conditioned on the grantees satisfying certain vesting and other
requiremenis outhned 1n the award agreements The activity related to these RSUs 1s set forth below

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
No. of RSUs No. of RSUs
No future Future No future Future
service service service service
requirement requirement requirement requirement
Qutstanding at the beginning of the year 7,324,571 5,051,185 11,096,423 8,801,816
Granted 1,174,295 1,641,646 1,817,659 2,395,345
Forfeited {12,531) (490,323) (52,812) (521,640)
Delivered (7,088,586) - (11,152,553) -
Transferred (out) /1n (28,427 (28,524) 50,980 (59,462)
Vested 3,635,746 (3,635,746) 5,564,874 (5,564,874)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 5,005,068 2,538,238 7,324,571 5,051,185

The weighted average fair value of the equity instruments granted duning the year ended 31 December 2012 was
US$87 55 (year ended 31 December 2011 US$145 58) The fair value of the RSUs granted during the year ended
31 December 2012 and the year ended 31 December 2011 includes a hquidity discount of 19 1% and 9 5%,
respectively, to reflect post-vesting transfer restrictions of up to 4 years

In the first quarter of 2013, the GS Group granted 4 3 million year-end RSUs to the group’s employees, of which 1 6
mullion RSUs require future service as a condition of delivery These awards are subject to additional conditions as
outlingd 1in the awards agreements Generally, shares underlying these awards, net of required withholding tax,
delhver over a three-year period but are subject to post-vesting transfer restrictions through January 2017 These
awards are not included 1n the above table
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Stock options

Stock opuons granted to employees generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock option agreement No opuions
were granted for the year ended 31 December 2012 nor for the year ended 31 December 2011 Employee stock
option agreements provide that vesung 1s accelerated 1n cerfain circumslances, such as upon retirement, death and
extended absence In general, all stock options expire on ihe tenth anniversary of the grant date, although they may
be subject to earlier termination or cancellation under certain circumstances 1n accordance with the terms of the SIP
and the apphcable stock option agreement The activity related to these stock options is set forth below

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Weighted Weighted

average average

No. of share exercise price No. of share exercise price

options US$ options USss$

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 10,875,522 89 89 11,935,923 90 07
Forteited - - (7,681) 78 38
Transferred 1n - - 57,090 76 25
Exercised (616,250) 78 95 (534,972) 90 69
Expired (2,451) 78 87 (574,838) 91 69
QOutstanding at the end of the year 10,256,821 90 55 10,875,522 89.89
Exercisable at the end of the year 10,256,821 90 55 7,741,204 94,39

For those options exercised duning the year, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was US$118 82
{year ended 31 December 2011 US$135 40) The options outstanding as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2011 are set forth below

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Weighted Weighted
average average
No. of share remaming No. of share remaining
options centractual options contractual
outstanding hfe (years) outstanding life (years)
Exercise price
$75 00-389 99 9,078,709 600 9,694,275 664
$90 00-$104 99 42,082 092 45,217 192
$120 00-$134 00 288,720 292 288,720 3192
$195 00-$209 99 847310 451 847,310 551
QOutstanding at the end of the year 10,256,821 10,875,522

The group recorded total share-based compensation expenses net of forfertures of US$384 mullion for the year ended
31 December 2012 (year ended 31 December 2011 US$880 mullion) related to the amorusation of equity awards
The corresponding credit to equity has been transferred to habilities as a result of the terms of the intercompany
agreements with the GS Group
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TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

a. Analysis of tax charge for the year

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$’000 US$’000
Current tax
UK corporation tax 155,264 (337
Adjustments 1n respect to prior penods (5,089) (52,768)
Overseas taxation 50,534 12421
Total current tax (see note b) 200,709 (20,684)
Deferred tax
Provisions and other tming differences (134,069) 643,834
Adjustments in respect of prior years 296 272
Effect of decreased tax rate on opening asset 28,523 59,713
Uulisation of lesses brought forward 695 -
Total deferred tax (see note 19) (104,555) 703,819
Tax on profit on ordmary activities 96,154 683,135

In July 2013, the Finance Act 2013 was substantively enacted, which will decrease the main rate of UK corporation
tax to 21% from | April 2014 and 10 20% from | April 2015 The group did not include these rate reductions 1in its
measurement of deferred tax balances as they were not substantively enacted as at 31 December 2012 The group
estimates that the tmpact of these rate reductions n the next year will be to decrease the deferred tax asset by
approximately US$28 million
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (continued)
b. Factors affecting tax charge / (credit) for the year:

The difference between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the weighted
average rate of UK corporation tax apphcable to the group for the year of 24 5% (31 December 2011 26 5%) to the
profit on ordinary activitses before tax 1s as follows

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$000 US$’000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 866,376 3,483,313
Profit on ordinary acttviies muluphied by
standard rate 1n the UK 24 5% (2011 26 5%) 212,262 923,077
Expenses disallowed for the purposes of tax
provision 18,258 21,954
Capital allowances (18,834) (16,906)
Timing differences in respect of equity-based
compensation 164,814 (665,708)
Other uming differences (16,779} (19,413)
Permanent differences (111,865) (142,259)
Exchange differences 4,648 2,203
Pension contribution relief in excess of net
pension cost charge (1,330) (5,714)
Tax losses surrendered from GS Group
undertakings for ml consideration (45,090) (64,978)
Uulisation of losses brought forward (695) a7
Other adjustments 409 599
Adjustment to tax 1n respect of pnor years (5.089) (52,768)
Current tax charge / (credit) for the year 200,709 (20,684)

Timing differences in respect of equity-based compensation comprises the net tax effect of the amounts charged o
the profit and loss account during the year and those amounts paid 10 employees duning the year

COMPANY PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The profit for the financial year of the company was US$244 5 mullion (year ended 31 December 2011 US$252 4
million} As permutted by section 408 of the Compames Act 2006, the company’s profit and loss account has not
been included in these financial statements
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The movemenis in intangible fixed assets during the year were as follows

Cost

At | January 2012 and 31 December 2012

Accumulated Amortisation
At | January 2012

Charge for year

At 31 December 2012

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2012

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The movements 1n tangible fixed assets during the year were as follows

Cost

At 1 January 2012
Additions

Disposals

Currency translation
Asset Transfers

At 31 December 2012
Accumutated Depreciation
At 1 January 2012
Charge for year
Disposals

Currency translation
At 31 December 2012
Net Boek Value

At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2012

The Group
Positive Negative

goodwill goodwill Total
Us$*000 US$°000 US$’000

27,447 (23,946) 3,501

(15,208) 19,445 4,237
(5,282) 3,815 (1,467)

(20,490) 23,260 2,770

12,239 (4.501) 7,738

6,957 (686) 6,271

The Group
Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings &

improvements equipment Total
US$’000 US$°000 US$’000
16,526 8,784 25,310
9,539 1,984 11,523
- (784) (784)

73 190 263
(146) 187 41
25,992 10,361 36,353
10,010 6,381 16,391
2,638 1,017 3,655
- (527) (527)

68 150 218
12,716 7,021 19,737
6,516 2,403 8,919
13,276 3,340 16,616
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

a.

Shares in subsidiary undertakings (at cost)

Shares 1n substdiary undertakings are unlisted and stated at cost less provision for impairment
The Company

US$’000
At 1 January 2012 6,894,190
Additions 1,405,020
Disposals (758,882)
At 31 December 2012 7,540,328

During the year, the following movements 1n shares 1n subsidiary undertakings took place

On 3 April 2012, the company was allotted 200,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1ssued by Fleet Trade &
Transport Limited, for a total consideration of US$200,000,000

On 27 April 2012, the company was allotted 7,442,519 ordinary shares of £1 each 1ssued by Goldman Sachs
International Bank, for a total considerauon of £277,829,228 (US$450,000,000)

On 21 September 2012, Moncy Partners Financial Company Limited eftected a return of capital of 3,861,998
US$1 ordinary shares (o the company, for a total consideration of US$3,746,138 The company ncurred a loss
on the investment of US$115,860

The balance of additions and disposals during the year 1s attnbutable to Goldman Sachs Asset Management
International, Goldman Sachs International, Goldman Sachs International Bank and Goldman Sachs Holdings
(UK} The directors and shareholders of the companies reviewed their respective company’s capial
requirements under the forthcoming European Union Fourth Capital Requirements Directive (‘CRD IV™) In
order to maintamn the equivalent level of Tier | capital under the new requirements these subsidianes repaid
therr preference shares, together with associated premium, and allotted additional ordinary shares

L]
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FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

The subsidiaries over which the group and the effective ownership interests to the nearest whole percent in the
ordinary and preference shares at the year end are listed below

Name of company and principal Group interest in shares Of which, owned directly
activity issued by the company

Goldman Sachs Asset Management
International
(fund manager)

100% Ordinary shares 1% Ordinary shares

Goldman Sachs International Bank
(bond trading, bank loan and related

100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares

activities)

Montague Place Custody Services
(custodian services)

Goldman Sachs International
(secunities dealer)

Goldman Sachs International
Finance

(non-trading)

Goldman Sachs Europe Limited
(service company)

Fleet Trade & Transport Limited
(o1l and shapping operations)
Goldman Sachs Holdings (U K )
(holding company)

Goldman Sachs Secunties
(Nomunees) Limited

(nomunce shareholder)
Dunvegan Investments Limited
{non-trading)

Shire UK Limited

{invesiment company)

Shire Funding Limited
{investment company)

Shire Assets

(investment company)

Shure Il Assets Limited
{invesimeni company)

Goldman Sachs (Monaco) S A M
(fund manager)

Scadbury UK Limited
(investment company)

Scadbury Funding Limited
{investment company)

Scadbury Assets

(1nvestment company)

Scadbury Il Assets Limited
{(investment company)
Amagansett Financing Limited
{investment company)

Killingholme Power Group Limited

(investment company)
Killingholme Generation Limited

100% Ordinary Shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
1009% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

1% Ordinary shares
19 Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0 % Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Otdinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordnary shares
(0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

{(investment company) 100% Redeemable shares 0% Redeemable shares
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FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

Name of company and principal
activity

Group interest 1n shares Of which, owned directly

1ssued

by the company

Killingholme Holdings Limited
(1nvestment company)

GS Killingholme Cayman
Investments Lid

(investment company)

KPL Holdings Limited
{1nvestment company})

GS Leasing No 1 Limuted
{investment company)

GS Leasing No 3 Limited
(investment company)

GS Leasing

(leasing partnership)

GS Equipment Finance I Limited
(1nvestment company)

GS Investment Finance I1 Limited
{investment company)

GS Leasing Management Limited
{investment company)

Forres LLC

{investment company)

Forres Investments Limuted
(investment company)

GS Funding Management Limited
(investment company)

GS Funding Investments Limited
(investment company)

GS Liguid Trading Platform 1 PCC
(investment company)

GS Liquid Trading Platform 11
Limited

(investment company)

GS Leasing Holdings Limted
(leasing holding company)

Money Partners Financial Company
Limited

(1n hquidation})

Money Partners Holdings Limuted
(1n liquidation)

Residenuial 1 Limited

{in ligmdation)

KPL Finance Limited

(investment company)

KPL Acquisitions Limited
(investment company)

Beheer- En Beleggmgsmaatschappyy
Befraco B V

(lease holding company)

Nufcor Internatonal Limited
(commodities dealer)

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Pattnership interest
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
1009% Class A shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Preference shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Redecmable shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Redeemable shares
1009 Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0 % Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Partnership interest
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Preference shares
0% Class A shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Preference shares
0% Ordinary shares

09% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary sharcs

100% Ordinary shares

1009 Ordinary shares
100% Redeemable shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Redeemable shares
0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordnary shares

0% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
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FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

Name of company and principal Group interest in shares Of which, owned directly
activity issued by the company
Nufcor Capital Limted 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares
{non-trading company)

Sphere Fundo De Investimento 100% Unts 0% Umnits
Multimercado - Invesimento No

Exterior Credito Privado

(investment fund}

Sphere Fund 100% Umts 0% Units

(investment fund)

Pumbaa Luxembourg SARL 100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares
(investment company)

Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan 100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares
Pension Trustee Limited

(dormant)

All the above subsidiary undertakings are registered 1n England and Wales except for the following

. Goldman Sachs Ewrope Limited, GS Liqwd Trading Platform 1 PCC and GS Ligwid Trading Platform I

Limited are incorporated 1n Jersey

. Dunvegan Investments Limited, Shire Funding Limited, Shire II Assets Limited, Scadbury Funding Limited,
Scadbury II Assets Limited, Amagansett Financing Limited, GS Kitlingholme Cayman Investments Ltd , GS
Leasing No | Limited, GS Leasing No 3 Limited, GS Leasing, GS Equipment Finance 11 Limited, GS
Equipment Finance [ Limited, GS Leasing Management Limited, Forres Investments Litnuted, GS Funding
Management Limited, GS Funding Investments Limited, KPL Finance Limited, KPL Acquisinons Limited and

KPL Holdings Limited are incorporated 1n the Cayman Islands
. GS (Monaco) S A M s incorporated in Monaco

. Forres LLC 15 incorporated 1n Delaware

. Beheer—- En Beleggingsmaatschappiy Befraco B V i1s incorporated 1n the Netherlands

. Sphere Fundo De Investimento Multimercado - Investmento No Exterior Credito Privado and Sphere Fund are

incorporated 1n Brazil
. Pumbaa Luxembourg S A R L 1s incorporated in Luxembourg

b. Shares in associate undertaking

Duning the prior year the group disposed of us 30 94% interest in Barne & Fhbbert Limited, a company
registered in Scotland providing financial risk consultancy, for a consideration of US$20 mallion
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14. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

c. Other investments other than loans

The balance at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 comprises

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2012 2011 2012 2011
US$000 US$’000 US$000 US$000
Shares in GS Group
undertakings (see note 1) 66 66 - -
Other equity investments 1,300 1,319 - -
Debentures (see note 1) - - - -
1,366 1,385 - -
(1) Shares in GS Group undertakings represent the following
Name of company and actwvity % Number in issue  Class Nomunal
Goldman Sachs Saudi Araba 035 5,000,000 Ordinary SAR 10

(1) The debentures, which have been fully amortised in the prior year, have a cost of US$78,000
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QUASI-SUBSIDIARIES

The group, 1n the ordinary course of business, vulises certain vehicles, which though not fulfilling the defimtion of a
subsidhiary, give rise to benefits for the group that are 1n substance no different from those that would anse were the
vehicles treated as subsidiaries As a result, these entinies are consohdated

The group utilises certain vehicles to meet investors objectives These are primarily

asset-repacked note 1ssuing vehicles these vehicles purchase assets by issuing debt instruments and by
entering nto derivative contracts The group has entered into 1nterest rate, foreign currency and equity
denvanves with these vehicles The vehicles produce no matenal net cash flows Cash flows received from
assets and denivatives held by the vehicles are pard either directly or indirectly, via debt securities issued, to
the debt holders In addition, given that all derivauves held by the vehicles offset nisks inherent in ther
assets and habihues, the vehicles do not produce any material net profit or loss

fund-linked note structures these vehicles 1ssue notes that offer the investor exposure to a portfoho of
investments predominantly in fund form Where these notes are principal protected, this protection 15
achieved via a mechamsm under which the group pays the vehicle any shortfall between the net asset value
and the notional of the 1ssued notes at their maturity In addition, given that derivatives held by the vehicles
offset risks inherent 1 their assets and labilittes, the vehicles do not produce any matenal net profit or loss

The combined balance sheet of these quasi-subsidiaries consohdated 1nto the group’s financial statements, 1s as

follows
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$'000 US$°000
Assets
Financial instruments owned
Amounts due from GS group undertakings 1,244 026 1,032915
Other 2,332,441 7,759,392
3,576,467 8,792,307
Liabilities
Debt securities 1ssued
Amounts due to GS group undertakings (2,600,875) (8,329.01%)
Other (975,592) (463,294)
(3,576,467) (8,792,307)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET

PURCHASED

Financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments
and investments within the operating activities of the group Financial instruments owned, pledged as collateral
represents financial instruments owned and pledged to counterparues that have the right 1o deliver or repledge

Financial instruments owned, including financial instruments pledged as collateral, compnises

Cash instruments:

Government & agency obligations
Equities

Corporate debt

Commercial paper

Commodities

Denivative instruments:
Credit

Interest rate

Equity

Foreign currency
Commodities

Financial instruments owned
Financial instruments owned, pledged as collateral

Financial tnstruments sold, but not yet purchased comprises

Cash instruments:

Government & agency obligations
Equities

Corporate debt

Denvative instruments:
Crednt

Interest rate

Equity

Foreign currency
Corunodities

31 December 2012

31 December 2011

US$'000 US$°000
41,642,030 38,021,954
34,141,283 19,753,356
12,664,322 14,492,036

475,132 1,618,408

451,850 160,907
89,374,617 74,046,661

104,461,509 178,440,727
301,748,577 242,787,908
64,799,089 81,929,352
40,588,727 47,657,688
5,313,234 7,594,021
516,911,136 558,409,696
606,285,753 632,456,357
578,257,050 610,947,921
28,028,703 21,508,436
606,285,753 632,456,357

31 December 2012

31 December 2011

US$’000 US$°000
21,056,885 25,733,167
13,579,934 14,556,429

2,881,237 3,039,769
37,518,056 43,329,365
93,420,837 161,593,761

297,634 901 237,598,237
59,493,447 71,151,469
40,086,865 47,644,824
4,772,759 7,036,994
495,408,809 525,025,285
532,926,865 568,354,650

39




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

17.

18.

19
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COLLATERALISED AGREEMENTS

Included withun the collateralised agreements are amounts of US$102,185 mullion (31 December 2011 US$98 919
million) which relate to GS Group undertakings

DEBTORS
The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2012 2011 2012 2011
US$’000 US$ 000 US$°000 US$’000
Amounts due from brokers / dealers and
customers 56,365,448 52,163,473 - -
Amounts due from GS Group
undertakings 12,331,319 10,013,434 41,559,033 19,673,531
Group rehef receivable from GS Group
undertakings - - 47,948 213,578
Corporation tax recervable 69,207 243 470 . -
Deferred tax (see note 19) 488,326 396,753 - -
Other debtors 87,428 216,375 1 7
Prepayments and accrued income 137,065 142,430 - -
69,478,793 63,175,935 41,606,982 19.887.116

Of the amounts due from broker / dealers and customers, US$165 milhion (31 December 2011 US$170 mullion) 1s
due 1n more than one year This relates to secured lending on a collateralised debt obligation

Of the amount due from GS Group undertakings, US$8,578 mulhon (31 December 2011 US$8,578 mullion) n
relation to the company 15 due 1n more than one year This relates to long-term subordinated loans to a subsidiary
undertaking The loans are unsecured and accrue mnterest at a margin over Federal Funds Rate The margin 1s reset
on a periodic basis to reflect changes n the group’s long-term debt spread The loan 1s repayable upon giving or
recewving at least five years’ nouce to or from the subsidhary undertaking

Included within other debtors 1s a net investment 1n finance leases of US$12 2 mullion (31 December 2011 US$72 6
million) of which US$4 1 mullion is due in more than one year (31 December 2011 US$26 4 mullion) The cost of
assets acquired n the year for the purpose of leting under finance leases was US$ml million (31 December 2011
US$16 million)

The remaining debtors are ali due within one year of the balance sheet date

DEFERRED TAX
31 December 212 31 December 2011
US$’000 uss$’ooo
Deferred tax balance compnises:
Deprecaation 1n excess of capital allowances 6,630 5,919
Post-retirement benefits {36,128) (6,592}
Other timing differences 517.824 397,426
488,326 396,753

Other uming differences mainly relates 1o deferred tax in respect of equity-based compensanon
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)

US$°000
At 1 January 2012 306,753
Transfer to the profit and loss account for the year 104,555
Foreign exchange gamn 900
Transfer to the statement of total recogmsed gains and losses
for the year (13,882)
At 31 December 2012 488,326

The directors consider that future profits will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be recovered

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Included wathin cash at bank and in hand 1s US$11,847 milhion (31 December 2011 US$13,784 million) that 1s held
on behalf of clients 1n segregated accounts

COLLATERALISED FINANCING

Included within collaterahsed financing are amounts of US$81,235 mithon (31 December 2011 1S$85,423 mlhion)
which relate to GS Group undertakings

OTHER CREDITORS

Other creditors, all of which are payable within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 3 December 31 December
2012 2011 2012 2011
US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$7000
Bank loans and overdrafts 432,324 27,182 - -
Debt securities 1ssued 16,499,506 21,474 432 - -
Amounts due to brokers / dealers
and cuslomers 79,226,790 91,653,421 - -
Amounts due to GS Group
undertakings 62,741,443 59,667,235 35,774,450 13,767,850
Corporation tax payable 21,579 3,047 - -
Group relief payable to GS
Group undertakings - - - 902
Other taxes and social secunty
costs 211,462 165,533 - -
Accrual for management charges
payable to GS Group
undertakings (see note 23 1) 1,112,336 742,269 - -
Other creditors and accruals 2,908,604 733,980 6,819 5,386
163,154,044 174,467,099 35,781,269 13,774,138
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OTHER CREDITORS (continued)

Of debt securities 1ssued, US$2,653 millhion (31 December 2011 US83%3,293 million) relates to amounts due to GS

Group undertakings

Of debt securities 1ssued, US$4,645 mullion (31 December 2011 US%9,200 mulhion) 1s secured by securities which
have been pledged as collateral, of which US$nil (31 December 2011 US$nil) relates to amounts due to GS Group
undertakings This pledged collateral 1s either recogmised within financial nstruments owned or sourced through

collateralised agreements

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2012 2011 2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$'000
[.ong-term subordinated loans (see
note 24) 10,234,922 9,559,923 8,578,000 8,578,000
Debt securities 1ssued (see note 1) 3,621,957 3,853,145 - -
Amounts due to GS Group
undertakings 820,878 1,460,049 - -
Accrual for management charges
payable to GS Group undertakings
(see note 1) 855,338 512,762 - -
15,533,095 15,385,879 8,578,000 8,578,000

(1) The maturity of debt secunties due after more than one year 1s as follows

In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

US$000 US$°000
1,478,957 230,616
1,209,462 2,890,165

933,538 732,364
3,621,957 3,853,145

Of debt securities 1ssued, US$167 mallion (31 December 2011 US$169 mullion) relates to amounts due to GS

Group undertakings

Of debt securities 1ssued, US$2,011 mullion (31 December 2011 US$2,677 mullion) 1s secured by securities
which have been pledged as collateral, of which US$167 milhon (31 December 2011 US$169 million) 1s
repayable to GS Group undertakings Collateral pledged 1s either recogmsed within financial instruments owned
or sourced through collateralised agreements Amounts due 1n more than five years predomnately relate to
structured debt sccuntics with matunities between 2018 to 2050 Payments on these securities are typrcally
referenced 1o underlying financial assets including collateralised debt obligations and OTC mortgage portfolios

(1) The accrual for management charges (per above and note 22) 1s 1n respect of RSUs and long-term incentive

plans
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SUBORDINATED LOANS
The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2012 201 2012 2011
US$'000 US$’000 US$000 US$’000
Repayable as follows
Between two and five years 340,740 340,740 - -
Over five years 9,864,182 9,219,183 8,578,000 8,578,000
10,234,922 9,559,923 8,578,000 8,578,000

The amounts outstanding represent long-term and short-term subordinated loans from GS Group undertakings These
loans are unsecured and accrue interest at a margin over the Federal Funds Rate The margin 1s reset on a penodic

basis to reflect changes 1n the GS Group’s long-term debt spread

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

The Group

US$’000
At 1 January 2012 5.991
Charge to the profit and loss account 22,233
Foreign exchange gain 81
At 31 December 2012 28,305

The provision of US$28 muillion was made n respect of legal clatms made against the group Further details relating
to these clatms have not been disclosed as permuited by accounning standard FRS12, ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, on the grounds that 1t would be senously prejudicial 1o do so

SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 share capital comprised

The Company
31 December 2012 31 December 201
No. US$’000 No. US$000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of US$0 01 each 2,256,548,249 22,565 1,785,861,370 17,858
Preference shares of US$0 01 each - - 461,500,000 4615
22,565 22473

_—

During the year, the directors and shareholders of the company reviewed the group’s capital requirements under the
forthcoming European Union Fourth Capital Requirement Directive (*CRD 1V') In order 1o maintain the equivalent
level of Tier 1 capital under the new requirements the company converted 1ts preference shares into ordinary shares

On 30 November 2012, all 461,500,000 preference shares were reclassified as ordinary shares

Up until repayment, the non-cumulative preference shares carried limited voting nights and, on a winding up, the
holders held preferential nght to return of capital together with any premium Non-cumulative preference shares had
a fixed non-cumulative dividend payable at a rate of 8 cents per share per annum
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

On 27 December 2012, 9,186,879 ordinary shares of US$0 01 cach were allotted to Goldman Sachs (UK)LLC
The total consideration received was US$90,674,500 1n cash, incorporating a share premum of US$90,582,631

SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND RESERVES

The Group
Share Capatal

premuum  redemption Capital Profit and loss Merger

account reserve contribution account reserve

US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$’000
At 1 January 2011 1,547,032 305,012 73,089 15,702,313 1,021,395
Profit for the year - - - 2,800,178 -
Other recognised losses - - - (38,889) -
Currency translation differences - - - (1,000) -
At 1 January 2012 1,547,032 305,012 73,089 18,462,602 1,021,395
Profit for the year - - - 770,222 -
Shares 1ssued (see note 26) 90,583 - - - -
Other recogmsed gains - - - 46,474 -
Currency translation differences - - - 12,506 -
Contributed caputal - - 5,321 - -
At 31 December 2012 1,637,615 305,012 78,410 19,291,804 1,021,395

The caputal redemption reserve arose during a prior period as a result of transactions entered 1nto by subsidiary
undertakings within the group

The Company

Share
preminm Capital  Profitand Merger
account reserve

contribution loss account
US$’000 US$’000 US$'000 US$000

At | January 2011 1,547,032 73,089 1,532,418 1,021,395
Profit for the year - - 252,442 -
At 1 January 2012 1,547,032 73,089 1,784,860 1,021,395
Profit for the year - - 244,501 -
Contributed capital - 5,321 - -
Shares tssued (see note 26) 90,583 - - -
At 31 Decemher 2012 1,637,615 78,410 2,029,361 1,021,395

As part of a group reorgamsation n a prior period, the group took advantage of the relief afforded to 1t under section
132 of the Compamnies Act 1985 As a result, share premium of only US$698,381,000 was recorded and the
remaining difference between the nominal value of the shares and the value at which the new shares were 1ssued of
US$1,021,395,000 was credited to a non-distributable merger reserve
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28, RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

The Group
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
US$°000 US$°000
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation and for the
financial year 770222 2,800,178
Exchange gain / (loss} on consolhidation 12,506 (1,000)
Actwuanial gain / (loss) relating to the pension scheme 60,336 (51,852)
UK deferred tax attributable to the actuanal gain / (loss) (13,882) 12,963
Share-based payments (see note 9) 384,378 879,948
Management recharge related to share-based payments (384,378) (879,948)
Captal contribution 5,321 -
Share capital tssuance (see note 26) 90,675 -
Net increase in shareholder’s funds 025,198 2,760,289
Opening shareholder’s funds 21,431,603 18,671,314
Closimg shareholder’s funds 22,356,801 21,431,603

29. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a  The group’s financial commitments and contingencies outstanding at the year end arise from letters of credit
and forward foreign exchange, swaps, options, financial futures contracts, debt and equity forwards and
underwriting commatments entered into in the ordinary course of business In addition, there are registered
charges on the group’s assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business

b. The group has undrawn loan commitments of US$55,815,000 (31 December 2011 US$94,865,000) These
commuitments are sub-participated to third party institutions

¢.  The group leases certain buildings on long-term leases Under these leases, which are subject 1o renegoniation at
various intervals specified in the leases, the group pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs of these
properties The rentals that the group 1s committed to pay in the next year are as follows

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

US$000 US$’000
Maturity of lease
Less than one year 100 555
Between | and 2 years 1,343 9,991
Between 2 and 5 years 1,290 2,863
Over 5 years 100,418 95,334
103,151 108,843
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FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

d.

€.

The group, in its capacity as an agency lender, indemnifies most of its securities lending customers against
losses incurred n the event that borrowers do not return securiies The maximum exposure to loss under
guarantee at the year end was US$1,046,680,560 (31 December 2011 US3$718,391,585) The market value of
the collateral held to cover the loss was US$1,105,497,674 (31 December 2011 US$756,681,677) There 15
minimal performance risk associated with these guarantees

The European Commtssion announced in April 2011 that it was muiating proceedings to investigate further
numerous financial services companies, including The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, 1n connection with the
supply of data related to credit default swaps and in connection with profit shaning and fee arrangements for
clearing of credit default swaps, including potential anticompetitive practices On July 1 2013, the European
Commussion 1ssued to those financial services companies a Statement of Objections alleging that they colluded
to limut competition 1n the trading of exchange-traded unfunded credit derivatives and exchange trading of
credit default swaps more generally, and setting out 1ts process for determining fines and other remedies It 1s
currently understood that the proceedings related to profit sharing and fee arrangements for clearing of credit
default swaps have been suspended indefimtely

The group may be impacted by this investigation through its subsidiary Goldman Sachs International However,
the group cannot reliably estumate the impact, 1f any, of the investigation
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Normal trading activities expose the group to market, credit and hquidity nsk These risks, described below, are
managed 1n accordance with established risk management policies and procedures

The GS Group manages market, credit and hquidity nisk on a consistent basis firmwide  Consequently, the group, as
part of a global group, adheres to global nisk management policies and procedures

The group seeks to monitor and control its nsk exposure through a vaniety of separate, but complementary, financial,
credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems In addution, a number of global, regional and entity
committees are responsible for monitoring nisk exposures and for general oversight of the group’s risk management
process (‘Risk Committees’) These commutiees meet regularly and consist of senior members of both the group's
revenue-producing units and departments that are independent of the group’s revenue-producing units In addition to
the committees, functions that are independent of the revenue-producing units, such as Comphance, Finance
(including Risk Management), Legal, Internal Audit and Operations, perform global nisk management funcuons,
which include monitoring, analysing and evaluating nisk

a. Market nisk

Market nisk 1s the nsk of loss 1n the value of the group’s inventory due 10 changes 1n market prices Financial
tnstruments are held primarily for market-making for clients and for investing and lending acuvities They, therefore,
change based on client demands and investment opportunities Financial instruments are accounted for at fair value
and, therefore, fluctuate on a daily basis Categories of market risk include the following

. interest rate nisk - primarily results from exposures to changes i the level, slope and curvature of yield
curves, the volatilities of interest rates, mortgage prepayment speeds and credit spreads,

. equity price risk - results from exposures to changes 1n prices and volanliies of individual equities, baskets
of equities and equity indices,

. currency rate risk - results from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatihties of
currency rates, and

. commodity price risk - results from exposures to changes tn spot prices, forward prices and volatilities of
commodities, such as crude o1l and metals

The group manages market risk by diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes and establishing economic
hedges n related securities or derivauves This includes

. accurate and timely exposure information incorporating multiple nisk metrics,
. a dynamic limit setting framework, and
. constant communication amongst revenue-producing units, nisk managers and senior management

Market Risk Management, which 1s independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to the Chief Risk
Officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing market nisk Risks are momtored and
controlled through strong oversight and independent control and support functions across the global businesses

Managers 1n revenue-producing units are accountable for managing nisk within prescribed limits These managers
have in-depth knowledge of their positions, markets and the 1nstruments available to hedge their exposures

Managers 1n revenue-producing units and Market Risk Management discuss market tnformation, positions and
estimated nisk and loss scenarios on an ongoing basis
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a. Market risk (continued)

Market Risk Management produces nsk measures and monitors them against market risk limits set by the Risk
Commuttees These measures reflect an extensive range of scenarios and the results are aggregated at trading desk,
business and entity levels

A vanety of sk mcasures are used to estimate the size of potential losses for both moderate and more extreme
market moves over both shorter-term and longer-term time horizons Risk measures used for shorter-term periods
include Value-at-Risk (‘VaR’) and sensiivity metnics For longer-term horizons, the primary risk measures are stress
tests The nsk reports detail key risks, drivers and changes for each desk and business, and are distributed daily (0
semior management of both the revenue-producing units and independent control and support functions

Management has made a sigmificant investment 1n technology to monitor market risk including

. an independent calculaton of VaR and stress measures,

. risk measures calculated at individual position levels,

. attribution of risk measures to individual risk factors of each position,

. the ability to report many different views of the nisk measures, e g by desk, business, product type or legal
entity, and

. the ability to produce ad hoc analyses in a umely manner

Value-at-Risk

VaR 15 the potental loss 1n value of financial instruments due to adverse market movements over a defined time
horizon with a specified confidence level A one day time honizon with a 95% confidence level 1s typically
employed The VaR model captures nisks including interest rates, equity prices, currency rates and commodity
prnices As such, VaR facilitates comparison across portfolios of different risk charactenstics VaR also captures the
diversification of aggregated nisk across the group

There are mnherent himitanons to VaR and therefore a vanety of nsk measures are used in the market nsk
management process Inherent limitations to VaR include

. VaR does not estimate potential losses over longer ime horizons where moves may be extreme,
. VaR does not take account of the relative hiquidity of different nsk positions, and
. previous moves 1n market risk factors may not produce accurate predictions of all future market moves

When calculaung VaR, historical simulations are used VaR 15 calculated at a position level based on simultaneously
shocking the relevant market nsk factors for that positon A sample from 5 years of historical data 1s taken to
generate the scenarios for the VaR calculation The historical data 1s weighted so that the relative importance of the
daia reduces over time This gives greater importance lo more recent observations and reflects current asset
volatilities, which improves the accuracy of our esumates of potential loss As a result, even 1f financial instrument
positions were unchanged, VaR would 1ncrease with increasing market volatihty and vice versa

Given 1ts reliance on historical data, VaR 15 most effective i estimating risk exposures in markets tn which there are
no sudden fundamental changes or shifts 1in market conditions

The VaR measure does not include
. positions that are best measured and monitored using sensitivity measures, and

. the impact of changes 1n counterparty and the group’s own credit spreads on derivatives as well as changes
in 1ts own credit spreads on unsecured borrowings for which the fair value option was elected
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a  Market risk (continued)

The accuracy of the VaR model 1s evaluated through daily backtesting (1 e comparing daily trading net revenues to
the VaR measure calculated as of the prior business day) at the GS Group level and for each of the group’s
businesses and major regulated subsidharies The VaR model 1s regularly reviewed and enhanced 1n order to
incorporate changes i the composition of financial instruments, as well as variations 1n market conditions Prior to
implementing significant changes to the VaR assumptions and / or model, test runs are performed Changes to the
VaR model must also be reviewed and approved by an independent model validation group Significant changes to
the VaR model are reviewed with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc Chief Risk Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
well as approved by the Firmwide Risk Comnuttee

The VaR model 1s also subject to independent review and vahdation by the GS Group’s independent model
validation group at least annually This review includes

J critical evaluauon of the model, 11s theoretical soundness and adequacy for intended use,

. verification of the tesung strategy utihsed by the model developers to ensure that the model funcuions as
mtended, and

. verification of the suitabiluty and properties of the numenical algorithms incorporated n the model
Stress testing

The group uses stress testing to examine risks of specific portfolios as well as the potential impact of sigmficant risk
exposures across lhe group It uses a vanety of scenanos 1o calculate the potential loss from a wide range of market
moves on the group's portfolios, including sensitivity analysis, scenario analysis and group stress tests The results of
the various stress tests are analysed together tor risk management purposes

Sensitivity analysis is used to quanufy the tmpact of a market move 1n a single risk factor across all positions (e g
equity prices or credit spreads) using a varnety of defined market shocks, ranging from those that could be expected
over a one day time horizon up to those that could take many months to occur Sensitivity analysis 1s alse used to
quantify the impact of the default of a single corporate enuty, which captures the nisk of a large or concentrated
exposures

Scenano analysis ts used to quantfy the tmpact of a specified event, including how the event impacts muluple nisk
factors simultaneously For example, for sovereign stress testing the group calculates potential direct exposure
associated with 1ts sovereign inventory as well as the corresponding debt, equity and currency exposures associated
with 1ts non-sovereign inventory that may be impacted by the sovereign distress When conducting scenario analysis,
the group typically considers a number of possible outcomes for each scenario, ranging from moderate to severely
adverse market impacts In addition, these stress tests are constructed using both historical events and forward-
looking hypothetical scenarios

Unlike VaR measures, which have an implied probability because they are calculated at a specified confidence level,
there 1s generally no implied probability that the group’s stress test scenartos will occur Instead, stress tests are used
1o model both moderate and more extreme moves in underlying market factors When estimating potenual loss, the
group generally assumes that its positions cannot be reduced or hedged (although expenence demonstrates that it 15
generally able to do so)

Stress test scenarios are conducted on a regular basis as part of routine nsk management process and on an ad hoc
basis 1n response to market events or concerns Stress testing 1§ an impottant pact of the risk management process
because it allows the group to quantify its exposure to tail nsk, mghlight potennal loss concentrations, undertake risk
/ reward analysis and assess and mitigate 11s nisk positions
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a. Market nsk (continued)
Limits

Risk linmts are used at various levels in the group (including entity, product and business) to govern nisk appetite by
controlling the size of 1ts exposures to market risk Limuts are set based on VaR and on a range of stress test relevant
to the group’s exposures Limuts are reviewed frequently and amended on a permanent or temporary basis to reflect
changing market conditions, business conditions or tolerance for nisk

The Risk Commuttees sets market risk limits at relevant entity, business and product levels The purpose of the Limits
15 to assist semor management 1n controlling the overall nsk profile Business level limuts are designed to set the
desired maximum amount of exposure that may be managed by any particular business on a day-to-day basis without
additional levels of senior management approval, effectively leaving day-to-day trading decisions to individual desk
managers and traders Accordingly, business level himits are a management tool designed to ensure appropriate
escalation rather than to establish maximum tolerance Business level limits also distribute nisk amongst various
businesses 1n a manner that 1s consistent with their level of activity and client demand, taking into account the
relative performance of each area

Market nisk limits are monitored dailly by Market Risk Management, which 1s responsible for identifying and
escalating, on a tumely basis, instances where limits have been exceeded The business-level limits are subject to the
same scrutiny and limit escalation policy as that of the GS Group and relevant ennites When a nisk limit has been
exceeded (e g due to changes in market conditions, such as increased volaulities or changes in correlations) 1t 1s
reported to the appropriate Risk Commuttees and a discussion takes place with the relevant desk managers, after
which etther the risk position 1s reduced or the nsk limit 1s temporanily or permanently increased

The following table sets forth the year end and daily VaR
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

UUS$m US$m
Total VaR at the end of the year 338 44 4
Average daily VaR for the year 337 487

Sensitivity measures

As noted above, certain portfolios and individual positions are not included in VaR because VaR 1s not the most
appropriate risk measure The market risk of these positions 1s determined by estimating the potential reduction 1n
net revenues of a 10% decline 1n asset value

The following table sets forth market risk for positions not included in the VaR

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Sensitivity analysis — matenal areas not in VaR US$m US$m
Trading Risk Equuty (10% sensitivity measure on carrying

value) 231 253
Trading Risk Debt (10% sensitivity measure on carrying

value) 86 392
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a  Market risk (continued}
Other market nsk measures

In addition, the group’s VaR excludes certain funding liabiliies As at 31 December 2012, the carrying value of
these liabiliies was US$55 2 billhon (31 December 2011 US$55 3 ullion) If interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact on these funding habilities would be to
decrease / increase the group’s net profit by US$207 9 mulhion (31 December 2011 US$183 5 mullion) This 1s
mainly attnibutable to exposure (o interest rates on the group’s variable rate borrowings

b. Credit risk

Credit nisk represents the potential for loss duc to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a counterparty, e g
an OTC denvauves counterparty or a borrower, or an 1ssuer of securities or other instruments the group holds
Exposure to credit nsk comes mostly from client transactions 1n OTC derivauves and loans and lending
commitments Credit risk also comes from cash placed with banks, secunties financing transactions (1 ¢ resale and
repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending activities) and receivables from brokers / dealers,
clearing organisations, customers and counterparties

The Credit Risk Management department, which 1s independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc Chief Risk Officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing
credit risk The Credit Policy Commutiee and the Risk Commitiees establish and review credit pohcies and
parameters In addition, the group holds other positions that give nise to cred risk, e g bonds held 1n inventory and
secondary bank loans These credit risks are captured as a component of market risk measures, which are monitored
and managed by Market Risk Management, consistent with other inventory positions

Policies authonsed by the Risk Commutiees and the Credit Policy Commuttee prescribe the level of formal approval
required for the group 1o assume credit exposure to a counterparty across all product areas, taking into account any
enforceable netung provisions, collateral or other credit risk mitigants

Eftecuve management of credit risk requires accurate and tmely information, a high level of communication and
knowledge of customers, countnes, indusiries and products The process for managing credut risk includes

. approving transactions and setting and communicating credit exposure limuts,

. monitoring compliance with established credit exposure hmits,

. assessing the likelithood that a counterparty will default on 1ts payment obligations,

. measuring the group’s current and potential credit exposure and losses resulting from counterparty
default,

. reporting of credit exposures to sentor management, the board and regulators,

. using credu nsk metigants, including collateral and hedging, and

. communicating and collaborating with other independent control and support functions such as

Operauions, Legal and Comphance
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b. Credit risk (continued)

As part of the risk assessment process, Credit Risk Management performs credit reviews which include imual and
ongoing analyses of the group’s counterparties A credit review 1s an independent judgement about the capacity and
willingness of a counterparty to meet its financial obliganons For substanually all of the group’s credit exposures,
the core of the process 15 an annual counterparty review A counierparty review 1s a wriiten analysis of a
counterparty’s business profile and financial strength resulting 1n an nternal credit rating, which represents the
probability of default on financial obligations to the group The determination of internal credit raungs ncorporates
assumptions with respect 1o the counterparty’s future business performance, the nature and outlook for the
counterparty’s industry and the economic environment Senior personnel within Credit Risk Management, with
expertise 1n specific industries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal credit ratings

The global credit nsk management systems capture credit exposure to individual counterparties and, on an aggregate
basis, to counterparties and their subsidiaries (economic groups) These systems also provide management with
comprehensive information on aggregate credut risk by product, internal credit rating, industry, country and region

Risk measures and hmts

Credn nisk 1s measured based on the potential loss 1n an event of non-payment by a counterparly For derivatives and
securities financing transactions, the primary measure 1s potential exposure, which 1s the esumalte of the future
exposure that could anse over the life of a transaction based on market movements within a specified confidence
level Potential exposure takes into account netting and collateral arrangements For loans and lending commitments,
the primary measure 1s a function of the notional amount of the posinon Credit risk 1s also monitored 1n terms of
current exposure, which 1s the amount presently owed to the firm after taking 1nto account applicable netting and
collateral

Credit limits are used at vanous levels (counterparty, economic group, industry, country) to control the size of the
group’s credit exposures Limuts for counterparties and economic groups are reviewed regularly and revised (o
reflect changing appetites for a given counterparty or group of counterparuies Limuts for industries and countries are
based on the group’s nisk telerance and designed to allow for regular momitoring, review, escalation and management
of credit nsk concentrations

Stress tests / scenario analysis

Regular stress tests are used to calculate the credit exposures, including potential concentrations that would result
from applying shocks to counterparty credit ratings or credit risk factors (e g currency rates, interest rates, equity
prices} These shocks include a wide range of moderate and more extreme market movements Some of the stress
tests include shocks to muluple risk factors, consistent with the occurrence of a severe market or economic event In
the case of sovereign default, we estimate the direct impact of the default on the group’s credut exposures, changes 1o
the group’s exposures arising from potential market moves wn response to the default, and the impact of credit market
deterioration on corporate borrowers and counterparties that may result from the sovereign default Unlike potential
exposure, which 1s calculated within a specified confidence level, with a stress test there 1s generally no assumed
probability of these events occurring

Stress tests are run on a regular basis as part of the group’s routine nsk management processes and the group
conducts tailored stress tests on an ad hoc basis 1n response to market developments Stress tests are regularly
conducted jorntly with the group’s market and liquidity risk functions

Risk mitigants

To reduce the credit exposures on denvatives and securities financing transactions, the group may enter into netting
agreements with counterparties that permt 1t to offset receivables and payables with such counterparties The group
may also reduce credit nsk with counterparties by entering 1nto agreements that enable 1t to obtain collateral from
them on an upfront or contingent basis and / or terminate transactions 1f the counterparty’s credit raung falls below a
spectfied level
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For loans and lending commutments, the group typically employs a varicty of potential nsk mitigants, depending on
the credit quality of the borrower and other characteristics of the transaction Risk mutigants include collateral
provisions, guarantees, covenants, structural seniority of the bank loan claims and, for certain lending commitments,
provisions 1n the legal documentation that allow the group 1o adjust loan amounts, pricing, structure and other terms
as market conditions change The type and structure of nsk mitigants emploved can significantly influence the
degree of credit risk involved 1n a loan

When the group does not have sufficient visibility into a counterparty’s financial strength or when ut believes a
counlerparty requires support from 1its parent company, the group may obtain third party guarantiees of the
counterparty’s obligations The group also mutigates s credit nsk using credit denivatives or participation
agreements

Credit exposures
The group’s credit exposures are described further below

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include both interest bearing and non-interest beanng
deposits To mutigate the risk of credit loss, the group places substanually all of its deposits with highly rated banks
and central banks

OTC derivatives Denvatives are reported at fair value on a gross by counterparty basis in the group’s consohdated
financial statements unless 1t has current legal rnight of set off and also intends to settle on a net basis OTC
derivatives are risk managed using the risk processes, measures and limuts described above

Lending activities The group manages its tradiional credit origination activities, including funded loans and
lending commtments using the credit risk process, measures and limuts described above Other lending positions are
risk managed as a component of market risk

Collateralised agreements. The group bears credit risk related to resale agreements and secunties borrowed only to
the extent that cash advanced to the counterparty exceeds the value of the collateral received Therefore, the group’s
credit exposure on these transacuions 1s significantly lower than the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance
sheet (which represent fair values or contractual value betore consideration of collateral received) The group also
has credit exposure on repurchase agreements and secunities loaned, which are habilities on 1ts consolidated balance
sheel, to the extent that the value of collateral pledged to the counterparty for these transactions exceeds the amount
of cash received

Other credit exposures. The group 1s exposed to credut risk from its debtors through 1ts amounts due from brokers /
dealers and customers and amounts due from GS Group undertakings These primanly compnise receivables related
to cash collateral paid to counterparties 1n respect of derivative financial instruments I[n addiuion, these balances also
include imnal margin placed with clearing orgamsations and receivables related to sales of secunties which have
traded, but not yet settled These receivables have mimimal credit risk due to the low probability of clearing
orgamsation default and the short term nature of receivables related to securities settlements Other amounts exposed
to credit nsk are generally compnised of collateralised receivables related to customer secunties transactuons and
have minimal credit nsk due to both the value of the collateral received and the short term nature of these
receivables

In the disclosures below financial instruments owned and financial instruments owned, pledged as collateral include
cash inventory (e g equities, bonds) These contribute US$89,375 million (31 December 2011 US$74,047 mullion)
to the group’s net credut exposure These are captured by market nisk (n the group’s risk management process

The following tables disclose the carrying values of financial assets recorded in the consolidated financial statements
and represent the group’s maximum exposure 1o credit risk before and after taking account of the value of collateral
obtained or any other credit enhancements (e g master netting agreements)
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b. Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credat risk by class
Financial instruments owned

Financial instruments owned,
pledged as collateral

Collateralised agreements

Debtors (excluding deferred tax of
US$488m)

Cash at bank and 11 hand

Exposure to credit risk by class
Financial instruments owned

Financial instruments owned,
pledged as collateral

Collateralised agreements

Debtors (excluding deferred tax of
US$397m)

Cash at bank and 1n hand

31 December 2012

Gross Master Security
credit netting Cash collateral Net credit
exposure agreements collateral received exposure
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
578,257 (442,739) (46,3200 (11,166) 78,032
28,029 - - - 28,029
200,742 (12,986) - (184,059) 3,697
68,990 - (26,733) (9.872) 32,385
13,834 - - - 13,834
889,852 (455,725)  (73,053) (205,097) 155,977
31 December 2011
Gross Master Security
credit netting Cash collateral Net credit
exposure agreements collateral received exposure
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
610,948 (467,756) (58,0700 (10,250) 74,872
21,508 - - - 21,508
226,072 (7,542) - (214,840) 3,690
62,779 - (26,076) (7,319) 29,384
15,572 - - - 15,572
936,879 (475,298) (84,146) (232,409) 145,026

The reduction in gross credit exposure of US$455,725 mullion (31 December 2011 US$475,298 mullion) reflects the
offsetting of derivative assets with habihties and collateralised agreements with collateralised financing with the same
maturity, where an enforceable master netting agreement 1s in place In each case, the group has a right to set off in the
event of default Cash and security coliateral have been offset to the extent there are credit exposures on the balance

sheet
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b. Credit risk (continued)

In the disclosures below financial instruments owned and financial instruments owned, pledged as collateral include
cash nventory (e g equities, bonds) These are captured by market risk in the group’s nsk management process
They are not assigned internal raungs and constitute the majonity of the exposures not rated below

The table below groups gross and net credit exposure based on internal ratings

Credit rating
AAA

AA

A

BBB

BB

B

CCC

Not rated
Total

Credit rating
AAA

AA

A

BBB

BB

B

Cccc

Not rated
Total

31 December 2012

Gross Master Security
credit netting Cash collateral Net credit
exposure agreements collateral received exposure
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
12,011 (3,508)  (2,596) (3.427) 2,480
126,589 (56,949) (14,323} (45,252) 10,065
535,513 (341,868) (33,827) (134,432) 25,386
71,770 (45,441)  (15,328)  (5,805) 5,196
18,128 (5,735  (4,284)  (5,509) 2,600
14,133 (1,952)  (1721)  (7.904) 2.556
2,274 (201) {960) (464) 649
109,434 (71) (14)  (2,304) 107,045
889,852 (455,725) (73,053) (205,097) 155,977
31 December 2011
Gross Master Security
credit netting Cash collateral Net credit
exposure agreements collateral received exposure
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
13,033 (3,391)  (1,797y  (6,862) 983
191,295 (73,595) (14,691) (83,685) 19,324
534,737 (344,142) (43,628} (118,818) 28,149
80,097 (46,801) (15714  (9,705) 7.877
16,967 (4,775)  (4,894)  (5,753) 1,545
12,622 (2,436) (32600  (3,604) 3,322
709 (50) (139) (93) 427
87,419 (108) (23)  (3,889) 83,399
936,879 (475,298) (84,146} (232,409) 145,026

As at the current and prior year ends, financial assets past due or impaired were insignificant
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b. Credit risk (continued)

Collaterahised transactions

The group receives financial instruments as collateral, primarily in connection with resale agreements, securtties
borrowed, denivative transactions and customer margin loans Such financial mstruments may include obligations of
the US Government, federal agencies, other sovereigns and corporations as well as equities and convertibles

In many cases, the group and 1ts subsidianies are permitted to deliver or repledge these financial instruments in
connection with entering nto repurchase financings, collateralising derivauve transactions and meeting firm or
customer settlement requirements As at 31 December 2012, the fawr value of financial instruments received as
collateral by the group and 1ts subsidiaries that they were permitted 10 deliver or repledge was US$288,714 million
(31 Deccmber 2011 US3$311,542 milhon), of which the group and ns subsiianes dehvered or repledged
US$253,201 million (31 December 2011 US$271,341 mllion)

The group and 1ts subsidiaries also pledge assets that they own to counterparties who may or may not have the right
to deliver or repledge  Financial instruments owned and pledged to counterparties that have the right to deliver or
repledge are included within ‘Financial Instruments owned, pledged as collateral’ in the consohidated financial
statements Financial instruments owned and pledged in connection with repurchase agreements, securities lending
agreements and other secured financings to counterparttes that did not have the right 1o sell or repledge are included
in ‘Financial instruments owned’ 1n the consolhidated financial statements and were US$30,869 mullion as at 31
December 2012 (31 December 2011 US$21,498 million)

In addition to repurchase agreements and securtties lending agreements, the group obtains secured funding through
the use of other arrangements Other secured financings include arrangements that are non-recourse, that 1s, only the
subsidiary that executed the arrangement or a subsidiary guaranteeing the arrangement 15 obligated to repay the
financing Other secured financings consist of liabilites related to consolidated special purpose enuties,
collateralised central bank financings, transfers of financial assets that are accounted for as financings rather than
sales and other structured financing arrangements

The group has posted cash collateral 1n respect of financial instruments of US$26,733 mullion (31 December 2011
US$26,076 million)

¢. Liquidity risk

Liquidity 1s of critical importance to financial institutions Most of the recent fatlures of financial institutions have
occurred in large part due to nsufficient hquudity Accordingly, the group has n place a comprehensive and
conservative set of hquidity and funding policies 1o address both group-specific and broader industry or market
hiquidity events The principal objective 1s to be able to fund the group and to enable the core businesses to continue
to generate revenues under adverse circumstances

The group manages liquichty risk according to the following principles

. Excess Liquidity - maintain substant:al excess liquidily to meet a broad range of potential cash outflows and
collateral needs 1n a stressed environment,

. Assel-Liability Management - assess the anucipated holding periods for the group’s assets and ther
expected tlhiquidity 1n a stressed environment Manage the matunties and diversity of funding across
markets, products and counterparties, and seek to maintain hiabilities of appropriate terms relative to the
asset base, and

. Contingency Funding Plan (‘CFP’) - a group CFP 1s maintained to provide a framework for analysing and
responding to a hquidity cnisis situation or periods of market stress This framework sets forth the plan of
action to fund normal business activity in emergency and stress situations
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¢. Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the group’s undiscounted cash flows of us financial liabihnes by contractual maturity
including 1nterest that will accrue, except for derivauves Derivative contracts included within financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased are classified as trading and included below at their fair value Fair values have been
disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values used in the hiquidity risk management of these instruments  Liquidity
risk on denivatives 1s mitigated through master netting agreements and cash collateral arrangements

31 December 2012

More More More
than one thanthree thanone
month but months year
Less  less than but less but less Greater
Trading/ than one three thanone thanfive than five
On Demand month months year years years Total

US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Liabilities:

Financial instruments
sold, but not yet

purchased 532,927 - - - - - 532,927

Collaterahised financing 68,201 66,574 7,910 10,104 2,150 1,639 156,578

Other creditors 120,620 1,579 4,061 36,928 5 - 163,193

Creditors falling due

after more than one year - - - - 4,757 12,288 17,045
721,748 68,153 11,971 47,032 6,912 13,927 869,743

31 December 2011

More More More
than one thanthree thanone
month but months year
Less less than but less but less Greater
Trading/ than one three thanone thanlfive than five
On Demand month meonths year years years Total

US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Liabilities:

Financial instruments
sold, but not yet

purchased 568,355 - - - - - 568,355

Collateralised financing 56,754 69,822 14,429 10,216 4,438 2,122 157,781

Other creditors 131,144 1,450 4,527 37,369 l - 174,491

Credutors falling due

after more than one year - - - - 5,370 11,459 16,829
756,253 71,272 18,956 47,585 9,809 13,581 917,456

57




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.) LIMITED

30.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2012
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
d. Transferred assets
Assets continued to be recognised in full

During the year, the group transferred certan financial assets where the transfers failed 10 meet the derecogniuion
critera, as contained n FRS 26, and as a resuli of which the group continues to recognise these assets 1n full on the
balance sheet

The group and us subswhanes transfer assets owned to counterparties 1n the ordinary course of business o
collateralise repurchase agreements and other securities lending transacttons In these transactions the transferred
assets continue 1o be recognised by the group for accounting purposes because the transactions require the financial
instruments to be repurchased at matunity of the agreement and the group remains exposed to the price, credit and
interest rate nisk of these instruments When the group receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the asset, a
financial lhabihty 1s recogmsed 1n respect of the consideration received and recorded within ‘Collateralised
financing’ When the group receives non-cash collateral (1n the form of secunities) no hiability 1s imtially recognised
If collateral received 1s subsequently sold, the obligation to return the collateral 1s recognised as a hability within
‘Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased’

In addition to repurchase agreements and secunties lending agreemeats, the firm obtains funding through the use of
other arrangements that fall to meet the derecogmition criteria For example, sales of secunities with related
denvatives, such as total return swaps, through which the group retains substannially all of the risk and reward of the
transferred assets A financial hiability 1s recognised 1n such cases for the proceeds received

Other financial assets transferred that conlinue to be recognised on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate 1o
pledges of securities as collateral, pnmanly for derivative transactions The obligauons under such derivauves are
recorded 1n ‘Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased’

The following table presents financial assets which have been transferred but which remain on balance sheet for
accounung purposes The carrying amount of the associated financial habilities approximate to the recogmsed
carrying amount of the assets transferred

31 December 2012

Carrying amount

US$m
Financial instruments owned
Government & agency obligations 26,894
Equities 24,003
Corporate debt 7,774
Commercial paper 227

Derecogmsed assets with ongoing exposure

The group has continuing involvement n the form of derivauive transactions and guarantees with certain non-
consolidated structured entities to which the firm had transferred financial assets These denivatives may be credit
linked to the asset transferred and result 1n the firm retaining specific nisks in the transferred asset or require the firm
to make paymenis to the structured entity to compensate losses on the asset 1f certain contingent events occur

In addition, the group transfers financial assets to secunitisation vehicles The group generally receives cash n
exchange for the transferred assets but may have continuing involvement with the transferred assets, including
ownership of beneficial interests 1n the securitisation The group may also purchase senior or subordinated secunities
1ssued by securnitisation vehicles in connection with secondary market-making activities

The following disclosures provide further informanon about the group’s exposure through this contimuing
mvolvement In all cases these retained interests are carried at fair value
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d. Transferred assets (continued)
31 December 2012

Maximum exposure to

Carrying amount loss
US$m US$m
Financial instruments owned
Dernivative financial assets 76 2,207
Cash instruments 365 365

Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased
Dertvative financial hiabilities 27 (255)
Cash instruments - -

Other habilities )] n

Where the firm’s continuing involvement n transferred assets 1s through derivatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure 10 loss 1s the notional amounts of the derivative or guarantee For retained or purchased interests in
securiiised assets, the firm’s risk of loss 15 imited to the fair value of these interests

For transactions with continming involvement, the following table shows information about the gains or losses
31 December 2012

Income and expense in  Cumulative income

the period and expense
US$m US$m
Financial instruments owned
Financial instruments owned 47 76
Cash nstruments 99 29

Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased
Derivative financial hiabiities (4) 2N
Cash instruments - -

Other liabilities - )

There were no transfers with continuing 1nvolvement in the current period The firm does not have continuing
involvement that could require the firm to repurchase derecognised financial assets

e, Fair value of financial instruments

For financial assets and habihities not measured at farr value, the carrying amounts in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value given the short-term nature of these mstruments, with the exception of the
below

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Carrying Approximate Carrying Approximate
value fair value value fair value
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Subordinated loans (see note 24) 10,235 10,552 9,560 8,209
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e, Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The long-term subordinated loans are repayable on either two years and one day or five years and one day’s notice to
or from the holder Consequently, the fair valee of long-term subordinated debt has been determined on the
assumption that all loans are repaid on their earliest potential repayment date, although repayment 1s subject to PRA
approval

f  Far value hierarchy

FRS 29 has a three level fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements The fair value hierarchy
prioriiises inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value, giving the highest prionty to level | inputs
and the lowest priority to level 3 inputs A financial instrument’s level 1n the fair value hierarchy 1s based on the
lowest level of any input that 1s significant to 1ts fair value measurement The fair value hierarchy 1s as follows

. Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices 1n active markets o which the group had access at the

measurement date for 1dentical, unrestricted assels or hiabihties

. Level 2 - Inputs to valuation techniques are observable, either directly or indirectly

. Level 3 - One or more 1nputs to valuation lechmques are significant and unobservable

The fan value of certain level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial habihities may include valuation
adjustments for counterparty and the group’s credit quality, transfer resirictions, large and / or concentrated
posttions, ilhquidity and bid / ofter inputs

The following table presents the level within the fair value hierarchy, financial instruments owned at fair value and
financial nstruments sold, but not yet purchased, at fair value and other financial assets and financial liabilities
accounted for at faur value under the fair value option

Financial assets at fair value as Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
of 31 December 2012 US$m US$m US$m USSm
Financial instruments owned 62,175 528,028 16,082 606,285
Collaterahised agreements - 150,444 - 150,444
Debtors - 221 167 388
Total financial assets at fair

value 62,175 678,693 16,249 757,117
Financial habilities at fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
as of 31 December 2012 US$m US$m US$m US$m
Financial mstruments sold, but not

yet purchased 32,901 489,971 10,055 532,927
Collaterahsed financing - 198,215 1,927 200,142
Customer deposits - 1,985 - 1,985
Other creditors - 17,075 2,993 20,068
Total financial liabilities at fair

value 32,901 707,246 14,975 755,122
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

f.  Fair value ierarchy {(continued)

Financial assets at fair value as Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
of 31 December 2011 US$m US$m US$m US$m
Financial instruments owned 52,355 558,405 21,696 632,456

Collateralised agreements - 190,728 - 190,728

Total financial assets at fair

value 52,355 749,133 21,696 823,184

Financial liabilities at fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
as of 31 December 2011 US$m US$m US$m US$m
Financial instruments sold, but not

yet purchased 38,796 515,251 14,308 568,355

Collateralised financing - 124 432 2,181 126,613

Other creditors - 20,596 4,064 24,660

Total financial liabilities at fair

value 38,796 660,279 20,553 719,628

Level 3 Rollforward

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there were no significant transfers between level 1 and 2 financial assets
and financial habilines The following tables present the changes in fair value for all the financial assets and
financial habilities categorised as level 3 for the year ended 31 December 2012 Gains and losses arising on level 3
assets are recognised within net revenue in the profit and loss account

If a financial asset or financial hability was transferred to level 3 during a reporung year, 1ts entire gain or loss for
the year 1s included in level 3 Transfers between levels are recognised at the beginming of the reporting year in
which they occur Accordingly, the tables do not include gawns or losses that were reported 1n level 3 1n prior years
for the financial instruments that were transferred out of level 3 prior to the end of the year

Level 3 financial instruments are frequently economically hedged with level 1, level 2 and level 3 financial
instruments  Accordingly, gains or losses that are reported 1n level 3 can be partially offset by gains or losses
attributable to level 1, or level 2 or level 3 instruments As a result, gains or losses included 1n the level 3 rollforward
below do not necessanly represent the overall impact on the firm's results of operations, ltquidity or capital
resources

The level 3 transfers into financial assets of US$3 9 illion and financial habihues of US$2 7 lllion are principally
due to reduced transparency of the correlation puts used to value certain credit derivatives as a result of less
observable trading activity and due to reduced transparency of inputs used to value certain other credit denvatives

The level 3 transfers out of financial assets of US$2 7 illion and financial habihities of US$2 2 bdlion are
principally due to unobservable nputs becoming less significant to the valuauon of certain credu and equity
derivatives and due to improved transparency of mputs used to value certain other credit and equity derivauives as a
result of more observable trading activity
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f  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Financial Total financial
Reconciliation of level 3 instruments owned Debtors assets
financial assets: US$m US$m US$m
At 1 January 2012 21,696 - 21,696
Profit for the year 267 8 275
Purchases 1,576 - 1,576
Sales (1,031) - (1,031)
Settlements (7,579 (3) (7.582)
Transfers nto level 3 3,864 162 4.026
Transfers out of level 3 271D - 2,711
At 31 December 2012 16,082 167 16,249
Financial
mstruments sold,
but not yet Collateralised Total financial
Reconciliation of level 3 purchased financing Other creditors liabilities
financial liabilities: US$m US$m US$m US$m
At 1 January 2012 14,308 2,181 4,064 20,553
Profit for the year 236 - 73 309
Purchases 27) - - 27
Sales 655 - 858 1,513
Settlements (5.914) (254) {1,702) (7.870)
Transfers nto level 3 2,695 - 40 2,735
Transfers out of level 3 (1,898) - (340) (2,238)
At 31 December 2012 10,055 1,927 2,993 14,975

g. Financial instruments valued using techniques that incorporate unobservable inputs

The fair value of financial instruments may be determined n whole or part using a valuation techmique based on
assumpuons that are not supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same nstrument or
based on available observable market data and changing these assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fair
value The potential impact as at 31 December 2012 of using reasonable possible aliernative assumptions for the
valuations ncluding sigmficant unobservable nputs has been quanufied as approximately US$230 mllion (31
December 2011 USS$510 mullion) for favourable changes and US$255 million (31 December 2011 US3$485
mtllion) for unfavourable changes In determiming reasonably possible alternative unfavourable assumpuions a
detailed business and position level review has been performed to wdentify and quantify instances where potential
uncertainty exists This has taken into account the posttions’ current value as compared to the range of available

market information
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
g. Financial instruments valued using technmques that incorporate unobservable inputs (continued)

The amounts not recognised 1n the consolhidated income statement relating to the difference between the fair value at
mitial recogmuon (the transaction price) and the amounts determined at wutial recogmtion using the valuation
techmiques (‘Day 1 P&L') are as follows

US$m
At 1 January 2012 177
New transactions 38
Amounts recogmsed 1n the consolidated income statement during the period (111)
At 31 December 2012 104

h. Capital management

The company 1s the holding company for a UK regulated group, which during the year was regulated by the
Financial Services Authority (the ‘FSA’) and as such 1s subject to minimum capital adequacy standards In
implementing the Capital Requirements Directive (‘CRD’) the FSA required each bank and banking group 1o
maintain an individually prescribed ratio of capital to risk weighted assets The group momitored and demonstrated
compliance with the relevant regulatory capital requirements of the FSA at all tmes duning the year

From 1 Apnl 2013, the FSA's regulatory role was replaced by the Financial Conduct Authority (the ‘FCA’) and the
Bank of England’s Prudential Regulauon Authority (the ‘PRA’)

The level and composition of the group’s capital 1s principally determined by uts regulatory capital requirements, but
may also be influenced by the business environment, conditions 1n the financial markets and assessments of potential
future losses due 1o extreme and adverse changes in the group’s business and market environment

The group’s capital i1s divided into three tiers
As at 31 December 2012

. Tier 1 capital - US$21 1 billion (31 December 2011 US$20 2 billion) - comprises permanent share capital,
profit and loss account and reserves, share premium account

. Tier 2 caputal - US$90 billion (31 December 2012 USS$8 2 billion) - solely comprises long-term
subordinated debt

. Tier 3 caputal - US$341 million (31 December 2011 US$332 mullion) - compnses short-term subordinated
debt

Varous regulatory limits and deductions are apphied
POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On | March 2013, the company 1ssued 68,692,608 ordinary shares of US$0 (1 for a totat consideration of US$686
million The consideration received was the entire ordinary share caputal of a fellow GS Group undertaking

On 9 July 2013, Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) re-registered, under the Companies Act 2006, from an
unlimuted company to a company limited by shares Consequently, the name of the company has changed to
Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) Limited

On 15 July 2013, the company 1ssued 135,528,803 ordinary shares of US30 01 for a total consideration of US$1,368
million The consideration received was the entire ordinary share capital of a fellow GS Group undertaking
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ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

The immediate parent undertaking 15 Goldman Sachs (UK) L L C, a company registered in Delaware The ulumaie
parent undertaking and the parent company of the smallest and largest group for which consclidated financial
statements are prepared 1s The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc , a company incorporated n the United States of America
Copies of 1its consolidated financial statements, as well as certain regulatory filings, for example Forms 10-Q and
10-K, that provide additional information on the GS Group and 1ts business activities, can be obtained from Investor
Relations, 200 West Street, New York, NY 10282, Unuted States of America, the GS Group’s principal place of
business or at www goldmansachs com/shareholders/
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